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. 8, Con. Res. 27

Wednesday, January 3C, 1946..
Congreéa of the United States,
Joint Committee on the Investigation
of Pearl H:irbor Attack,
wWashington, D. C.
The Joint Committee met, pursuant to adjournment,gaﬁ?
10:00 A. M., in the Csucus Room (room 318), éenate Office
Building, Senator Alben W. Barkley (cheirmon) presiding.
Present: Senators Barkley (chairman), George, Lucas,
Ferguson and Brewster. .
Representatives Cooper (vice chairman), Clark, Murphy,

Gearhart and Keefe.
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Also present: Seth W, Richardason, General Counsel;

Samuel H. Kaufman, Associated General Counsel, and John E,

Masten, of counsel, for the Joint Committee.




The Chairman: The committee will come to order.

I believe the committee had not finished with Admira}

Smith.

Mr, Murphy: Mr, Chairman, on yesterday I was quest-
ioning Admiral Smith. It was the understanding;that he
would be here this morning at lo:ooho'clock. He 1s not

I‘ here.

On yesterday the statement was made by Mr, Richardson
of counsel that it would be desirable if possible to hold

the testimony to ten minutes, because of the urgency of

finishing with the testimony of Captain or Admiral McCollum.

Mr. Kaufman: Captain McCollum,

Mr. Murphy: Captain McCollum.

Now, then I have spent conslderable time on the pre-
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vious testimony of Admiral Smith, and I find, Mr. Chairman,
that there 1s a vast amount of very important material in
the previous testimony of Admiral Smith as to why they

didn't use the Army planes, as to basing the Fleet at

Pearl Harbor, as to the propriety of 1t, as to the effi-
ciency of the Fleet at the time of December 7, as well as

one more important thing, that when Admiral Kimmel was on

the stand I asked at that time if he consulted his air

man, Admiral Bellinger, and he sald "no," that he consulted

Captain Davis,
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Mr. Keefe: Admirsl Smith 1s here nowv.

The Chairman: Yes.

Mp. Murphy: I went to show by this witness on the
stand that Captain Davls ﬁas~never consulted elther,
For those reasons, I.cannot agree to restricting
myself to ten minutes, and if Captain McCollum, I ask that
this testimony of Admiral Smith be put over until later.
T think the testimony too important not to Dbe developed.
Mr. Richardson: Mr. Chaifman, if I may meke thils

suggestion: There 1sn't the slightest necessity of the

Congressman or any other member of the committee curtalling
his examination of Admiral Smith. My suggestion is that
the Admiral be permitted to step gside so that we can

present the testimony of Captain McCollum and Admiral
Bellinger, who are under very {mperative orders, and when
they are through, there 1s no reason why Admiral Smith

can't be examined to the 1imit.
And I want to make thils statement to the commlttee:

There has never been any idea 1in our minds that Admiral

Smith might not be able to give material testimony. The

point that we malke, and which has been in my mind, is that

he has testified two or three times. There will be in the

vecord a very full statement. T have an apprehension that

a1l of the testimony that will be brought from the Admiral

s S e T N iy T
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Mr. Keefe: Admiral Smith 1is here now.
The Chairman: Yes.
Mr. Murphy: I want to ﬁhow'by'this'witness on tha
stand that Captain Davis ﬁaa never consulted either.
For those reasons, I.cannot agree to restricting
myself to ten minutes, and if Captain McCollum, I ask that
this testimony of Admirsl Smith be put over until later.
T think the testimony too important not to be develop=d.
My. Richardson: Mr. Chairman, if I may meke thils
suggestion: There isn't the slightest necessity of the
Congressman or any other member of the committee curtailing
his examination of Admiral Smith. My suggestion is that
i the Admiral be permitted to step aside s0 that wve can
I

’1 present the testimony of Captain McCollum and Admiral
|
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Bellinger, who are under very imperative orders, and when

"i they are through, there 1s no reason why Admiral Smith

' can't be cxamined to the limlt.

\ And I want to meke this statement to the committee:
There has never been any ldea in our minds thet Admiral

Smith might not be able to give material testimony. The

point that we make, and which has been in my mind, 1s that

he has testified two or three times. There will be in the

record a very full statement. I have an apprehension that

211 of the testimony that will be brought from the Admiral
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here may be just cumulative to that testlmony.
If, of course, there are new facts to be elicited,

not only with Admiral Smith, but with any other witness,

'thero should be further examination.

But now I would ask the Chairman to permit the Admiral
to pause in his testimony to get rid of these other two,
and then ﬁﬁke up the testimony. I have been advised too
by Captain Zacharias that he desires to offer some further
remarks in connection with the matter.

The Chairman; Admiral Smith may step aside then,
and these other witnesses will be called.

Mr. Keefe: Mr, Chairman --

The Chairman: The Chair would like to call attention

to an article that appears 1n this morning's Washington Post,

with the headline,"Pearl Harbor Report to Hit Army, Navy.
Congress to be told Iligh Command, as wvell as Kimmel and
Short, 'Muffed Ball.'"

The article goes on to say:

"The Joint Congressional Committee investigating Pearl
Harbor will report to Congress that the War and Navy
Departments in Washington shere the responsibility for the
disaster with Admiral Husband E. Kimmel, aﬁd Ma jor Genéral

Walter C. Short, 1941 Hawaiian Commanders, The Washington

©0st learned exclusively yesterday.
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"The Committee, which is now at work on its report
to Congress has tentatively decided, a member disclosed
that the High Command here, as well as Kimmel and Short‘
‘muffed the ball! and gave the Japs the chance to inflict
this nation's greatest naval disaster.”

And the article goes on further.

The Chair wishes to say that the committee has not
met, nor discussed its report, even informally, or casually.
Tt has been the Chair's understanding, and I think that of
the committee, that the committee will not make up its mind
on its report until the evidence is in, and it has met and
gone over the situation, and agreed on 1its report.

There 1isn't any basis for any article in any newspaper
that this committee is now writing its report, or that any-
body on the committee knows what 1ts report will be.

I think 1t is & distinct disservice to this committee
to be predicting and prognostlicating a report when the com-
mittee has not met or discussed its report.

Senator Ferguson: DMr. Cﬁairman, I want to say as
a member of the committee that I certainly have never heard
of any member of the committee having an idea as to what
the report should be, and that I personally have not com-

mented upon the evidence or made up my mind in any way in

relation to what the report should be.
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My sole purpose has been and will be during the hearings
to get the facts and then I know the committee as a whole
will consider those facts and make a report.

The Chairman: I appreciate the member's comment. If
there is any member of the committee that has any other
viev or objective, I don't know who it is, but I do feel
the committee ought not in advance to be put in the posi-
tion of having made up its mind, when we haven't even con-
cluded the evidence, and when we will in all likelihood want
to take a little time when we have concluded the evlidence
to consider it, and probably reread some of 1t in order to
get the picture appropriately before the committee before
ve attempt to write a report.

I felt in justice to the committee that that comment
ought to b? made.

Myr. Keefe: Mr., Chalirman --

The Chairman: Congressman Keefe.

Mr. Keefe: I want to thank the chairman for. making
that statement. I had intended to maeke a simllar state-
ment when the Chairman very graciously called attentlion to
the article which appeared in this morning's Washington Post.

I agree with the Chairman that I think a disservice

has been done the committee and the country by the specula-

tion that 1s conteined in this article, but perhaps 1t may

- R iy,
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1
hT7 have been prompted by the fact thap it has been suggested
: that we have been indulging somewhat in clairvoyance in
g some of the evidence that has been given here. Maybe
; that 1s what tended to influence this particular writer.
8

I don't know.

The Chairman: I appreciate that.

Mr. Keefe: So far as I am concerned, I have never
met with the committee to discuss that matter; I don't

know of any committee meeting, and if there has been any
10

such agreement by any group on the committee, I know nothing

11 ’
about 1t.
12 |
‘I The Chairman: I want to say there has been no meeting

14
Cheir's intention is concerned, there would be no meeting

D G ‘NOLONIHSYM "INVd ¥ QHYM

15 .

13
t so far as the Chair knows of any group and so far as the
called of the committee to consider the evidence and con-

16

sider its report until all of the evidence is in; and while
17 :

it may be that there has been some clairvoyance indulged

18
| in here, at least the Chalr hopes 1t will not become con-
19
tagious.
20 |
| That is all.
3 21
My, Kaufman: May we then present Captain McCollum?
22
The Chalirman: 7Yes.
23
Mr. Kaufman: Captain McCollum.
24

Shef flas
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have been prompted by the fact that it has been suggested
that we have been indulging somewhat in clairvoyance in
some of the evidence that haes been given here. Maybe
that is wvhat tended to influence this particular writer.
I don't know.

The Chairman: I appreclate that.

Mr. Keefe: So far as I am concerned, I have never
met with the committee to discuss that matter; I don't
know of any committee meeting, and if there has been any
such agreement by any group on the committee, I know nothing
about 1it. |

The Chairman: I want to say there has been no meeting
so far as the Chair knows of any group and so far as the
Chair's intention is concerned, there would be no meeting
called of the committee to consider the evidence and con-
sider 1ts report until all of the evidence is in; and while
it may be that £here has been some clairvoyance indulged
in here, at least the Chair hopes 1t will not become con-
tagious.

That is all.

Mp. Kaufman: May we then present Captain McCollum?

The Chairman: Yes.

Mr. Kaufman: Captain McCollum.
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Captein McCollum: Yes, Bir,

TESTIMONY OF CATAIN ARTHUR HOWARD MC COLLUH
(esworn by the chairman)
rhe Chairman: All right, you may proceed.
Mr. Kaufman: Captain, where were ycu born?
Captain McCollum: I wasborn in Nagasakl, Japan.
Mr . Kaufman: And how long have ycu beenin the N avy?
Captuain MoCellum: I have been in the Navy for 28 years
continuously.
»

Mr. Kaufman: Will you tell us briefly your experience

in the Navy? af

Captain MoCollum: I was appointed to the Naval Academy ﬁ 2 B

tn 1917 by the late Sehwtor Bankhead of Alabama. I was
graduated in 1921, 1in June.

1 gserved for six monthe on the battleshlp Arkansas and
for two months on the destroyer Argonne en route to the Ori-

ent. I arrived in Japan, in Tokyo, in March of 1922 for the

purpose of studying the Japanese language. 1 remalnéd, 1

think it was, until -1925.

During that period for four monthq I served with the de-~

| stroyers of the “slatlc Fleat who were at that time serving

in oonjunction with Japanese destroyers assisting in the Army

planes flying around the world in 1924, Most of that service

.
“
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Witness MoCollum Guestions by: Mr, Kaufman

| was in the Kurile Islands, where I apent neurly six weeks at

that time.

I returned to the United States in June of 1925, went to
submarine school, finighed there and in June 1926 I was as-

| signed to duty on board the USS 07, a submarine operating out

| of the Canal Zona, I served in that submarine for two and a

half years, the lust of which I was in command of 1%, I

shifted from the USS 07 to executive offlocer of a larger sub-

|merine, the S-11, returned to the United States in that shilp
in June of 1928 and was ordered to duty as asslsta nt Naval
Attache at the Amerizan REmbassy in Tokyo, I arrived in Tokyo
| in about Octobtrer of 1928 and served on that up until June of
.19300

I returned then to the United States and ear ved for three
years on the baftleahtp West Virginia, In 1933 I returned to
the Navy Department as head of the Far Eastern Divislon of the

Office of Naval Intelligence. In February of 1935 I was de-

tached from that duty and ordered to San Pedro, California to
set up a special Intelllzence Office to worﬁ in conjuncticn

lwith the staff of the Commander-in-Chief of the Fleet, at that

time Admirzl Reeves, to make an effort to stop the Japanese

espionage attask on the vessels of our Fleet.

I completed that duty in 1936 and was assigned as As-

F

|lsistant Operations Officer and Fleet Intelligence Offlcer on
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Witness MoCollum Questions by: Mr., Kaufman

| the staff of the Commander-in-Chief of the United States Fleet,

Admiral A. J. Hepburn. I continued 1n that duty until about

1 February of 1938, The l:st seven months of that duty I

was Aoting Operations Officer of the Fleet, having no senior

in that billing.

| sﬁont then two months on temvorary duty here in the

Navy Department in conneotion with the installing of a new 8y8-
tem for keeping check of the movements of vessels of the Fleet,

was assigned to the command of the destroyer Jaocob Jones. Ib

the course of that oruise I was detached from the ccmmand of

l the Jacob Jones in the latter part of September of 1939, re-
|
turned to the United States and was assligned to duty in the

Division of Naval Intelligence, where I was detalled as of =

ficer in oharge of the Far Gastern sectlon.

I was relieved from that duty in October of 19842, was
| ordered as Oper ations Officer on the staff of the Cowmander
| of the Southwest Pacifioc force, which was later called the

| Seventh Fleet, which was that part of the Navy serving under

|

General MacArthur's orders overall command. Upen arrival I
was direoted by the Admirul to assume duty as Intelll-=ence

|Off 1cer of that Fleet and served and developed an Intelllzence

organization for him,

I gerved as Intelligense Officer of that Fleet until

about 1 May of 1945, when I returned to this country. I am now
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Witness MoCollum | Questions by: Kr. Kaufman

ass igned as commanding officer of the heavy orulser Helena.

Mr, Kaufman: During the months of Ootober and November
1941 what was your assignment?
| Captain Mo Collum: I was head of the Far Eastern section
‘of the Divisicn of Naval Intelligence. I might add that frem
| the 25th of August until about the 1l4th of Ootober I was abe
.sent from the United States. |

Mr. Kaufman: You returned here around the l4th of
Cotober 19417

Captain MoCollum: That 18 corract, sir,

Mr., Kaufman: 4And ycu continued as Chlef of the Far East-

ern section until October of 190427

Captain MoCollum: That 1s correot, sir.

Mr., Kaufman: And who was the counterpart of ycur par-
tiocular position in the Army?

Captain McCollum: Colonel Bratton.

Mr. Kaufman: Now, as part of your duties as Chlef of the

Far Eastern section was it part of your duties to xeep traock

of the fleet movements, of the Japanese fleet movements and

will you explain to the committee the manner in which that was

done?

Captain McCollum: It was. I had a speclal seotion in

my office who were charzed with that particular duty., We had

a large chart spread on the wall with the ocean divided up into




5

0

7

8

0

10
-3

> 11
X 0
-

3 12
® -
r

£ 13
>
v
I

R
-‘
o
h

S
N

10

17

18

19

20

2l

23

24

25

| were entered on a ourd and that ourd index was kept together

0119
Witness nncbllum Guenticns by: Mr,. Kaufman'

certain zones to which we had given names. All sorts of in-

formation concerning the movements of any Japanese man-of-war

and duily or more often as neces: ury plins representing the
various ships of the fleet were moved around on this chart and
for my own purposes there was a sheet summarizing the situa-
tion.

Mr. Kaufman: Did the time come in November 194)1 when You
determined th & the Intelligence Office in Waahington had lost
track of part of the Japanese fleet?

Captain MoCollum: By the time you spesak of we were al-
most wholly dependent on one form of radio intelligence for
information oonoerning the Japanese fleet whioch was not on the
China coast. Tlat form 18 known us traffic analysis, whereby
infersnces are drawn from such things as the volume of radio
traffic and call signs and so on.

Those inferences were drawn and were made based largely
on radio intelligence by that purtioular seocticrn of the Com=
munlcations Intelligence organization, Thélr conclus ions were

then submitted to my of fice.

Radlo intelligance, of cocurse, has very definite limita-
tions., If the man you are trylng to find out about does not

use the radio, radio falls down. After a fleet has been in

Wport a certain length of time, in the absence of other informa-

|
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Witness MoCollum Quéstions by: Mr. Kaufman

a tien, that is, information other than rgdie intelligence, such

@ 3 || as sight contact or some other report from an observer, unless

4 the ocall signs of those shivs are heard very definitely and

5 | plotted in by oompass a doubt arises as to whether those ships

¢ || are where radio intelligencs thinks that thhﬁ are, That situ-

7 ||atlon exlisted, to my mind, from about the middle of Noverber on,
8 Mr, Kaufman: 4And as a result of that doubt did you

0 ||dispatch to the Commander of the Asiatic Fleet & dilspatch

10 which 18 dated November 24, 1941, part of exhibit 377 (Hand-

11 ||ing dooument to witness.)

12 Captaln MoCollum: Yes, sir, I drafted that dispatch and

13 (|11t wae released by my ohief, Admiral '7ilkinson.

14 Mr. Kaufman: And in reply tec that dispatch did you get

2D O 'NOLONIHSYM "INVYd ¥ QHYM

!5 |lcompunic: tlons from the Cemmander-in-Chief of the Asiatio

16 |[Fleet and the Crmmunder-in-Chief of the Puoific Fleet whish

17 |lare referred to on page 7610 of the record before this commite-
18 |ltee, pages 7610 and 7611? (Handing transerint to witness).

. 19 Captain MoCollum: Yes, sir,

20 | Mr. Kaufman: On or about December lst, 1941 d4id you cause

21 ||{to be prepared a memorandum showing the disposition or location

f the Japanese fleet?

—

23 Captaln MocCollum: May I jJust see 1t, sir? I think I

24 ow what yeu m2an, Mr. Counsel, but I would just like to re~

25 . resh my mind, sir,
i
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Witness MoCollum ' Questions by: Mr. Kaufman

(Whereupon the document referred to was handed to the

| witness. )

I Captaln MoCollum: Yes, sir, this is a routine report on
| thls partiocular subjeot and under the coffice orders that ex-
lated at the time, while that is dated 1 December, the in-
formation and the time, the dead line for preparing this re-
port was about two duys before that, sir,

Mr, Kaufmen: And In that memorandum that you prepared
you indlocated that part of the Japanese fleet was in Japanese
home waters?

. Captaln MoCollum; That is correoct, sir,

Mr, Kaufman: That 1s exhibit 85 before this coumittee.

On or about December 6th did you prepare another memo-

randum as to the disposition of the Japanese fleet? (Handing

document to witness,)
Captain MoCollum: December 6th?
Mr,., Kaufman: December lst.

Captain McCollum: No, sir. This memorandum that you have

| shown me here on December the 1lst i8 a memorandum which I

personally prepared covering the development of the entire

situation, the general location on the idea of the Japanese

fleet and 1t 1s only one part of it., Thise summarizes the

8ltuation and is an sttemnt to show what to my mind was the

very orlitical situatlon that had been brought about step by
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Questions by: Mr.Kaufman

step,
Mr. Kaufman: And was that ocomunisated te the Commander-
in-Chiaf of the Pas3ifioc Fleet?

Spo far as I know 1t was not, sir,

Captain MoCollum:

This thing was actually drafted by me on the Friday and Satur-

day preceding. If I remember correctly, December the 18t was

Monday. I polished 1t up in some aspects and took 1t to my
chief, Admiral Wilkinson, early Monday mornin3 in finished

form. He read this document over, directed me to walt in hls

office and dieappeared, He ocwume bank in about ten minutes
and sald, "You be ready to go to the offlce of Admiral Stark
with me between 11 and 11l:30 this morning and make a number

of copiles of this thing that you have given me."

I did that and st the time 8tated I appeared in Admiral
Stark's office. Present in thut of floce at the time were Ad-
miral Stark, Chlef of Navel Operatlons, Admirsl Ingersoll,
the Assista nt Chief of Naval Operations, Admiral Turner, the
Director of War Plans, of course my chilef, Admiral Wilkinson,
and one or two other flag offlcers, I belleve Admlrals Braln-

ard and Noyes.

-

At the direoction of Admir:sl Wilkinson coples of this

|rmemorandum were pagsed to =ach of the flag off lcers present,

'I then read the memorandum perscnally and engaged in a dig-

Il cussion at that time and pointed out thgt in my opinion war or
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2 rupture of diplomatic relations was imminent and I requested
I
3 informatlion a8 to whether or not the fleets in the Pacifio

had been adequately alerted,

4

5 I I was glven a categorlical assurance by both Admiral

0 Stark and Admiral Turner that dispatches fully alerting fho
7 || fleets and placing them on a war basis had been sent. I hed
8 seen no such dlspatches at that time.

0 Mr., Kaufman: Were you informed ;t that time of the war
10 ||meesaze sent by Admiral Sturk to the Commander-in-Chief of
11 the Paolflo Fleet under date of November 27th?

12 Captain McCollum: Not except in the form of the assur-

13 | ance that adequate informatlieon in alerting the fleet had been

14 sent.

D A "NOLONIHSYM INvyd | QuvyM

15 Mr, Kaufman: In connection with the preparatirn of the
10 memorandum to which you have Just referred did you rely to any
17 |lextent on the traffic analysis reports received by you from

18 Admiral Kimmel?

19| Captain MoCollum: O©0h, yes. I might point out that the

20 lbeat statlens for traffic analysls were at Corregidor, the

21 |lradlo intelligence oenter there, and after Hawail to Oahu.

22 ||We were dependent on those pluces for our information here.

23 Mr. Kaufman: Now, Captaln, we will go to another sub-

24 |lJect. You are famillar with the intercepte of the Japanese

25 idiplomatio code regarding the settinzy up of the so-oalled




Witness MoCollum Questions by: Mr. Kaufman

wipds code?

~ Captain MoCollum: That 18 correot, sir. I had first

| heard it called the winds code upon my return to Washington

I
| le8t May, 8lr,

| Mr. Kaufman: But you are fumiliar with the two inter-
cepts that are part of exhibit 1?7
Captain MoCollum: Yes, sir,
Mr. Kaufman: On pages 154 and 155 of exhlblt 1.
Captain MoCellum: Yes, sir, I am fzmiliar with these.
Mr. Kaufman: And they are dated when, sir?
Captain MoCollum: The first one is dated from Tokyo
to Weshington 19 Novemwber 1941, translated apparently in the

Navy Department on November the 28th, 1941. The second one

is also dated Tokyo to Washington 19 November 1941, trans-
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lated in the Navy Department on 26 November 1941,

Mr. Kaufman: Now, after those two messages were called
to your attention what did you do to insure recelpt of any
exaoute message in furtherance of thut code?

Captain MoCollum: At my recommendation my ohlef, Ad-

(|
miral Wilkinson, went to the Director of Ccmmunications,

Admiral Noyes, and asked him to set up everything he possibly

h ocould to intercept the execute of these dlspatches and it 1is

my understanding thut that was done. That would be done by

F
that technical service.
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|

Mr, Kaufman: And any reports with respeoct to the ex-
ecute of the winds code would normally come to you?

Captain MoCollum: That 1s ocorrect, sir, - should have.

Mr. Kaufman: Did you up te Dooember 7th get any infor-
mation that an exeocute message of the winda code had come

throught

Captain MoCollum: About the middle.of the week I was

' teld «= I had heﬁrd that an execute whioh would have meant

- relations with Russia in danger had been rec~ived. In check-
ing bask on the Japanese originel, or in trying to run down
the Japanese orizinal of that partioular dlspatoh we cheoked
it very carefully and we came to the conclusion that it was
not an execute whatsoever; that 1t was merely a part of an

ordinary weather broadcast.
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Mr, Kaufman: And the only one that was called to your
attention was that relations with Russla had been broken?
Captaln McCollum: Yes, sir,

Mr, Kaurman£ It did not rslate to relations with the

' United States or with Britain?

Captailn MoCollum:! That 1s correot, sir,

Mr. Kaufman: Apd 1t did not relate to war with either one?
i Captain MoCollumt None of these related to war, sir;
|

that 18, beiny exast about 1t, The translations all used the

| euphemism of etrained rslatlions, or what have you, sir,
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witness Mc@ollum Questions by: Mr. Kaufman

Mr. Kaufman: Would you explain the Japanese language
relating to the setting up of those codes?

Captain McCollum: I presume either one of them will
do, will it, sir?

"Mr. Xsufman: I think so.

Captain McCollum: In the first one here the dispatch
88yS ;

"Regarding the broadcast of a speclal maaaﬁgp in an
emergency .

"In case of emergency (danger of cutting off our
diplomatic relations), and the cutting off of internatiqnal
commmnications, the following warning will be added in the
middle of the daily Japanese language short wave news
broadcast.

"(1) In case of a Japan-U.S. relations in danger:
HIGASHI NO KAZEAME."

That means "east wind rain".

"(2) Japan-U.S.S.R. relations: KITANOKAZE KUMORI."

That is "north wind dioudy“.

"(3) Japen-British relations: NISHI NO KAZE HARE."

That means "west wind'clear“.

"This signal will be given in the middlé and at the end
as a weather forecast and each sentence will be repeated

twice. When this is heard please destroy all code papers, etoc.
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a This 1s as yet to be a completely secret arrangement.

4 "Forward as urgent intelligence."

i I would like to point out that the value of this thing

X as a code 1is wholly dependent upon the use of particular

= and precise Japanese words, used in a precise position within

% & broadcast. Any departure from that order must necessarily

” cause the code to be in doubt.

a For instance, one might say "east wind rain" in a number ;

ia of different ways in Japanese. Here it is in the rather '
e emphatic and brief form "Higashi No Kazeame". We might as
; 5 well say "Kaze Higashi An;e“ s Which means exactly the same
%
i o || thing in enother form.
§ 14 S0 I may point out the translation will not suffice.
% 18 It must be the particular Japanese words used in a particular
1 o | aequende in a dispatch. They deal with weather matters here

17 and they could so easily be confused that the value of this

o thing as a code would be nil.

o Mr. Kaufman: Exactitude 1s necessary?

a0 Captain McCollum: That is correct, sir.

* Mr. Kaufman: And 1f other words were used meaning the

= same thing then you would not regard that as being an execute -

aa of the code?

a4 Captain McCollum: No, sir, not in this type of thing.

an Mr. Keufman: I asked you just a fow moments ago as to
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when your attention was called to a break in Russian rela-
tions. Do you recall when and where that Information came
to you? I

Captain McCollum: That came to me from Captain Kramer,
wvho is, I think -~ I cannot be certain on this, but I heard
later -- excuse me, I am wandering. I heard later that
Agmiral Noyes, Director of Communications, set up a special
system for warning me and the officers in the Naval Pjlans
about the arrival of any of these winds messages, or winds
Information. That I dild not know about at the time.

I heard one morning somewhere about the middle of the

week of 1 to 7 December that such a dispatch had been re-

ceived, and I sent for Kramer and we went over it in detail

and came to the conclusion that 1t was not the real thing,
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and I am fairly certain that Colonel Bratton of the Far

Eastern Section of the Military Intelligence Service also

worked on it with his experts and came to the same conclusion,

and wve continued to check back and forward with each other.

Mr. Kaufman: Captain McCollum, I direct your attention
to a communication from the FCC, Federal Communications Com-
mission, which is part of Exhibit 142, and ask you whether
that is the information that you got to which you just

referred?

Captain McCollum: I cannot be certain that it was this
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Witﬁeu McCollum Questions by: Mr. Kaufman

particular one, but it was one of this same general oonnotation,'
because we went back, or tried to go back to the original
Japanese on this thing.

Mr. Kaufman: Will you look at the one on the next
page and see whether that refreshes your recollection?

Captain McCollum: I am sorry, Mr. Counsellor, I cannot
identify any one of these as the exact one I saw. It might
have been eilther one of them.

Mr. Kaufman: The two papers to which I just referred
are items 3-B and 3-C of Exhibit 142.

Aside from the suggestion that there may have been an
execute of that portion of the code as related to Russia,
you had no other information?

Captain McCollum: Not until after the war had started,

Mr. Keufman: I am talking about up to and including
December 7.
Ceptain McCollum: No, sSir.

Mr. Kaufman: After December 7, the day after Pearl
Harbor, did a message comé in in execution of the winds code?
Captain McCollum: Yes, sir, one that we thought was

an execute, and that either came in late on the afternoon
of the 7th or sometime on the 8th. The code, as translated,

if you can use that term, would have indicated strained
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Witness McCollum Questions by: Mr. Kaufman

relations between England and Japan.

Mr. Kaufman: You refer now to item 3-B-of Exhibit 1427

Captain McCollum: 7Yes, sir.

Mr. Kaufman: Captain 3afford has testified that a
winda execute messape was received in the Navy Department on
Decembe::; 3rd or 4th. Did any such information come to you?

Captain McCollum: I saw nothing of that sort, sir.

Mr. Kaufmen: Captain Safford testified in substance
that predicated on information that an execute message had
been received you prepared 2 dispatch to go to the various
outposts. Did you prepare any such dispatch?

Captain McCollum: I did prepare such dispatch, but it
was not predicated on the winds execute, sir.

Mr. Kaufman: What dispatch are you referring to now?

Captain McCollum: After submitting my memorancum to
Admiral Wilkinson and through him to the Chief of Naval
Operations --

Mr. Keufman: You are referring now to Exhibit what?
Exhibit 812 |

Captain McCollum: The 1 December 1941_.

(Continuing) -- I was put in the rather difficult posi-
tion of not personally knowing what had been sent out to
the Fleet. Possibly it was none of my business. As I pointed

out to you, the basis of this memorandum, tae information it
L]
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was based on was actually as of about the 28th of November.

As time went on we had sent out dispatches to our Naval

Attaches in Tokyo, Pieping, Bangkok &nd Shanghal to destroy
all of their codes, and to report by the use of a code word,

and those codes vere destroyed.
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Witness McCollum

We were getting reports from our observers of the

Japanese task force which was moving down the Kra Penin-

sule. Our planes were sighting forces moving, out sub-
marines were tralling them. We had some little Informa-
tiop in addition. I still did not know what had been sent
to the Fleet.

I drafted a rather brief dispatch, outlining the
information pretty much as 1s in this memorandum, but
greatly condensed. I went further and stated that we felt
everything pointed to an imminent outbreak of hostilities
between Japan and the United States. That dispatch was
taken by me to my Chilef, Captain Hurd, and together we
went in to see Admiral Wilkinson., We did it in view of
the fact that the function of evaluation of Intelllgence,
that is, the drawing of inferences therefrom, had been
transferred over to be a function of the War Plans Division.

T was directed to take that dispatch and present 1t
for the consideration of Admiral Turner, the Director of
the War Plans Division, which I did.

Admiral Turner read the dispatch over. He then made
a number of corrections in it; striking out all except the
information parts of it, more or less, and then showed me

for the first time the dispatch which he had sent on the

27th, which I believe 1s referred to as the "war warning"
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Witness McCollum

dispatch, and the one which was sent, I believe, on the
24th -- wasn't it?

Mr. Kaufman: That is right.

Captain McCollum: (continuing) -- which preceded that
dispatch, and sai& did not I think that was enough. I
said, "Well, good gosh, you put in the words 'war warning.'
I do not know what could be plainer than that, but, never-
theless, I would like to see mine go too."

He said, "Well, if you want to send it, you either
send 1t the way I corrected 1t, or take it back to Wilkinson
and we will argue about it," or words to that effect.

I cannot presume to remember preclsely.

I took it back to Admiral Wilkinson and discussed it
with him, and he said, "Leave it here with me for a while,"
and that is all.

Now, I would like it understood that merely becsause
this was prepared on'a dispatch blank in no sense means
it was an official dispatch. It wes merely my recommenda-
tion to my seniors which they were privileged to throw 1in
the waste basket, I imegine. It was in no sense a part of
the official file., It is nothing other thﬁn a recommenda-
tion for the dispatch officer. I have written dozens of

dispatches for the Admiral, and he could elther throw them

eway, or use them. There was no record kept of that sort
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of thing.
Mr. Kaufman: That dispatch, or that memorandum that
you prepared had no relation or no reference at all, to

the winds execute message?

Captain McCollum: No, sir,

Mr. Keufman: And if Captain Safford seys thatthe

dispatch or memorandum that you prepared had releation to

the winds execute message, what is your version of 1t?
Captain McCollum: I think Safford would be misin-

formed in that. He has judged my intentions in what

motivated me, sir, and I believe I am a bettx» judge of
that than he is, although I do not impugn hils motives

|| Whatsoever. He mey sincerely belleve that to be true,

sir..
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Mr. Keufman: Captain Safford testified at one place

that the last paragraph of your memorandum or dispatch

had particular reference to the winds execute message, and

& suggestion by you that you wanted to avoid another Port

Arthur.

Captain McCollum: No, sir, I could not have done any-

thing like that, Mr. Counsellor, when I did not have the
winds execute message.

My. Keefe: May I inquire, Mr. Chairman? Am I cor-

rect in the understanding that this purported message
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Senator lLucas

Witness McCollum uestions by: Mr. Kaufman
Mr. Keefe

- drawn by Captain McCollum is not in evidence, and is not

in existence?

Captain.McColluﬁ: As I explained, sir, this sort
of thing was merely my recommendation on a dispatch blank,
drafted in dispatch form.

.Mr. Keefe: But it is not in existence?

Captain McCollum: No, sir, it is not in exlstence,
sir.

Mr. Keefe: You are testifylng from recollection?

Captain McCollum: That is correct, sir.

Mr. Keefe: As to what was written in 1t?

Captain McCollum: That is correct, sir.

Mr, Keefe: The document itself is not available?

Captain McCollum: That is corect, sir.

Mr. Keefe: And is not before the committee?
Captain McCollum: That is correct, sir.

Mr, Keefe: I just wanted to be sure of that.
Senator Lucas: May I make an inquiry at this point?
As I understand you, sir, Admiral Wilkinson did not

act on your recommendation.

Captain McCollum: That, Senator, I do not know, sir.
I do not know what further Admiral Wilkinson did with 1it.
He may have gone up with it to higher authority, and it was

Ft:.rne? down, or he may have decided not to go further with
, 8ir.
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_ Mr. Keefe
1 Senator Ferguson
h5 5 Senator Lucas: As far as the evidence 1s concerned,
. 4 there 1s no evidence in the record that any dispatch of
i this character was ever sent?
3 Captain McCollum: There is no evidence that any dils-
g patch of this character was ever sent.
> Senator Lucas: By the Chief of Naval Operations?
. Captain McCollum: That is correct, sir, no dispatch
g was ever sent.
. 10 Mr. Keefe: Does the evidence disclose the date of
% ' (I this alleged conversation, or the writing of this dispatch?
B f'c: " Captain McCollum: These things are entirely memory
.E 13 || on my pert, sir. There is no record of this thing at all.
g 14 I As I expleined to you, this wes drawn up and written on
;‘; ‘. 1I the dispatch form. When the dispatch does not go, you
16 wind it up, and throw it in the waste basket. That 1s
o | what happ_ened probably in this case.
1a Mr. Keefe: Do you recall the date thit this took place?
i Captain McCollum: It was either the fourth or fifth,
‘20 sir.
21 | Mr. Keefe: Of December?
. a2 Captain McCollum: Yes, sir.
- | Senator Ferguson: That would be on a Saturday or a
24 Friday?
an Captain McCollum: Yes, sir. It was sbout that time.

. e e,
w
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Witness McCollum Questions by:

day,

The Chairman: The Tth was Sundsy, the 6th was Satur-
and the 5th would be Friday.

CnptainHMcCollum; Yes, sir.1

Senator Lucas: And the 4th would be Tﬂnraday.

The Chairman: The 4th would be Thursday.

Captain McCollum: Yes.

The Chairman: And so on, backwards.

Senator Ferguson: Let the record show that I asked

the question, thinking it might refresh his memory if he

knew what day of the week it was.

I know Jjust as well as the other members of the com-

mittee what day these dates fall on.

The Chairman: The Chair recognizes that.
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Mr. Kaufman: We will go now, Captain, to another iten.
I direct your attention to a dispatch from Tokyo to Honolulu
dated September 24, which is part of Exhibit 2, and being on
page 12 of Exhibit 2.

Captain McCollum: Yes, sir, I have seen this dispatch
since coming to Washington this time, sir.

Mr. Kaufman: Did you see it at or about the time 1t
was translated on October 97?

Captain McCollum: No, sir, I was not in Washington
at that time, sir.

Mr. Kaufman: You arrived in Washington about the 16th?

Captain McCollum: I arrived in Washington about the
11th, sir, but that was ¥Friday and I had certaln notes and
reports that I made. I had been to Europe and I had to
Imock some of my notes in shape, and I called in at the
office and then went home where I got my notes in shape,
and actually went down to the office on Monday, slir, and
it was probably two or three' days after that before I got
myself ianto the saddle again, sir.

Mr. Kaufman: Do you recall whether that particular
memorandum, or that particular dispatch, which has been
referred to here as plotting a chart of Pearl Harbor, whether

that came to your attention at any time after you came
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Captain McCollum:; Mr. Counsellor, I cannot be certain.
If 1t did not it should have been called to my attention as
Chief of that Division, sir. I have heard it in the testimony
before this committee, that I have read, sir, I have heard
it referred to as the bombing plan. All I can say about
that, sir, 1s if I saw 1t 1t did not make much impression
on my mind, nor did it make much impression on the minds of
any of the considerable number of what were supposed to be
quite capable officers who saw this dispatch at that time,
sir.

The first time I ever heard 1t referred to as being
any definite bombing arrangement was when I belleve the
former counsel advanced that hypothesis before this committee,
sir.

Mr. Keufman: And what interpretation, if you saw it,
did you put on it, or what interpretation do you put on
that chart now?

Captain McCollum: The situation in regard to the
Japanese obtaining intelligence 1n thls country was this:

Back in 1935 the Japanese Navy was apparently not
gsatisfled with the type of intelligence forwarded to them
by their consular agents in this country and undertook
the setting up, on the West Coast of the United States, of

an observation net of their own. We knew about it in
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Witness McCollum Questions by: Mr. Kaufman

1935 and broke it up by 1936. We purposely let a certain
portion of it run along so that we had an insight into the
organization on this coast, on the West Coast of the United
States.,

During all of this time it was my feeling then,ahd
it 1is my feeling now ,*that the Japanese had been unable to
put Naval observers into the conaula.té general at Honolulu.
In 1941 they had them at Seattle, San Francisco, the ILos
Angeles-San Diego area, and Panama. Panama was serviced
from the Japanese Naval Attaohe_r 's office in Peru. These
offices, you will remember -- we were able to run two of
them out. One was arrested I think in Los Angeles in about
June of 1941. Okada, Lieutenant Commander, and son of the
former Premler of Japan, was chased out of the country about
the same time. He had been cperating in Seattle.

As we estimated 1t, the Consul General at Honolulu

was recelving, through the Foreign 0ffice at the instance

of the Japanese Naval Department, explicit directions of

the type of intelligence that was needed, nuch more in detail
than any of the other key consulates on the West Coast,
because he did not have the benefit of the services of

a Japanese Naval Intelligence Officer within his consulate.

Therefore this thing here, if I saw it, I am quite

certain I would have felt it was just another move to get




10

12

14

15

= .0 AOTOMIHEAW . JUAY & ORAW

16

17

18

19

20

el

23

24

13

o1i]

Witness McCollum Questions by: Mr. Kaufman

oxplioit. information, to cut down the frequently voluble
type of reports made by consular officials which the Japs
Navy did not lr:Lke .

More than that, sir, I cannot say'.

Mr. Kaufman: You do not now regard it as a bombing
plan for Pearl Harbor?

Captain McCollum; Not necessarily, sir, not unless
I had known that Pea.ri Harbor had been bombed, and then I
could say this certainly looks like it might be such a plan,
sir.

Mr. Kaufman: Now we will go to the last item, Captein,
and that is the l4-part message, part of which arrived
on Saturday, December 6.

Were you on duty at that time?

Captain MeCollum: Yes, sir.

Mr. Kaufman: When did you first receive the 13 parts
of that message?

Captain MecCollum: I was recelving parts of that message
as they came in. I was down in my office untlil late
Saturday night, sir. They called me up at my home in the
middle of the night and told me that the rest of it had come
in, but they did not have the last part, there was one still
to come. I inquired right away what steps had been taken

to deliver it and to whom. I was informed 1t had been
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Witness McCollum Questions by: Mr. Kaufman

delivered by Captain Kramer to the Director of Naval
Intelligence. Fortunately the Naval Aide for the President
happened to be at his house, as was, I believe, the Director
of Military Intelligence, General Miles, who had all seen

it at that time, and that steps had been taken to deliver

it to other of the high command in the Navy Department and
nresumably to the White House, because our channel there
was with the Aide to the President, Admiral Beardall.

Mr. Kaufman: What time, to your recollection, did this
message begin to come in on Saturday?

Captain McCollum: I cannot say, sir. About 5:00 ¢@'clock
in the afternoon was the first time that I heard about it,
sir, that it was coming in. It might ha*:re come in before that.

Mr. Kaufman: Did you stay on duty until that entire
message had been recelved?

Captain McCollum: No, sir. My office was on a 24-hour
basis by early November, sir. I had a total of six officers,
including myself and including Kramer, who was excluded
vecause of his special relationship there. Early in November
I take 1t the three senior officers, that is from experience,
aither myself, Captain Watts or Colonel Boone were on duty
In my office, together with adequate aasiétanta such as we
had on a 24-hour basis, sir. I took over the watch on

Sunday morning sometime between T:30 and 8:00, and about 9:60
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2 olglock I went home to get some sleep so I could be bright
3 eyed the next morning, sir.
4 Mr. Kaufman: What time did the 1li4th part of that
5 message come in on Sunday morning?
8 Captain McCollum: I recelved it I think about 9:00
7 otclock, sir. My reccllections as to the exact time I might
8 add are not precise. I know I was on duty and relieved
0 Watts in my office in the Navy Department on Sunday morning

10 orlor to 8:00 ofclock, probably about 7:45.

11 This was brought to me, I think, when I was in the

12 outer office of Admiral Starkis office. That would be

—~UAS £ AQPAW

13 about 9:00 or 9:30, would be my guess, sir, on Suhday

14 || morning. Now I say again, sir, my time refers back to the

15 || %ime I came on duty, sir. I do not remember the times

D . AOTDVIHZAW

16 precisely.
17 Mr. Kaufman: Was Admiral Stark there when this measage
18 was brought to you in his outer office?

.19 Captain lMcCollum: The sequence of events on Sunday

20 || morning was something like this, 1f you are interested -~

21 Mr. Keufman: I know the committee is very much interested

23 i{a this particular phase of 1t.

23 Captain McCollum: I went over the situation with Watts

24 wyhen I arrived and was trying to digest the 13 parts of this

25 thing when I received word that Admiral Wilkinson, my chief,
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had arrived and desired to see me. I went up to Admiral
Wilkinson's office and we entered into a discussion of the
first 13 parts of this dispatch. I should say that would
be 9:00 o'clock or maybe a little later. Whille we were
talking an orderly or someone came in and saiq Admiral
Stark had come into his office, and Admiral Wilkinson said,
"Well, come on, let's go and see the chiefn" We went down
the passageway and went into Admiral Stark's office. Ab
that time there was no ;:ne in Admiral Stark's office except
himself. None of his aides were present in the outer office.
We went in and discussed this thing with Admiral Stark

and then came on out. That was the 13 parts.




Mr. Keefe
Shortly after that, the l4th part was delivered to

Witness McCollum . "mestions by: Mr. Kaufman
me. I took it up with Admiral Wilkinson, and pointed
out to him the difference in the tenor of the language

of the 1l4th pert from thet of the other. We immediately

took it to Admiral Stark and pointed out to him the viru-

loncé , and tenor of the language of the l4th part of it.

ﬂ Mr. Kaufman: What time would you say it was that

you azd Admiral Stark discussed 1t?

Captain McCollum: Certalnly before 10 o'clock, sir.
10

11

I am trying to do the best I can, sir, but I just did not

12

have the time to check the time precisely, sir,.
13

At that time, the suggestion was made that it looked
14

right there that that was enough to indicate that we

2 0 "NOLONIHSYM "INVYd ¥ QuYM

Nine-thirty, or ten. I cannot be exact, Mr. Counselor.
J

15

' could expect war. That term was used., That was an infer-
16 )
|

ence. I mean there was nothing about war in this dispatch

|
i B

at all, and possibly was loose language, unquestionably
18

was loose language, but we were all rather thinking in

19

those terms.

The suggestion was then made that an additional warning

be sent to Pearl Harbor.

Mr.' Keefe: By whom? Who made the suggestion?

—— T

Captah McCollum: Admiral Wilkinson, sir. Some little

discussion went on, and, as far as T Inow nothing was done
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at that time.
 About a half-hour later -- I was still in Admiral

I Stark's office -- when word was sent in that one of my

was standing there with the time part of the dispatch;
that 1s, an additional dispatch which directed the Japanese
ambassadors in Washington to deliver this note at one o'clock
Washington time.
Mr. Kesufman: That was the 1l4th part of the message,

was it not?

i Captain McCollum: I am not certain withint referring

| to it. I thought it was & separate message, was muy impres-

' sion, sir, and that the 1l4th part in it, the last thing,
|

I Tt followed the usual procedure, and this procedure was

% of ficers wished to see me, and I stepped out, and Kramer
i

was rather a Philippic thing against the United States.

D QO ‘NOLONIHSYM "INVd ¥ QHYM

used as an emphasis. There was nothing unusual about

that.

The Chairmen: You are either too close or too far
from the microphone. Some of the members have difficuity
hearing you. Will you raise your volce a little?

Captain McCollum: Is this better, sir?

The Chairman: That is better.

\

Captain McCollum: The time zone 1s set up as a routine

procedure in my office, and in order to keep track of what
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. - Senator lucas

time of day it was there, whether it was sunset or sunrise,

or moonset, we had a standard procedure that when any dis-

patch of which time was an element came in, we immedlately

converted that time to not only our own time but usually
set up Washington time, West Coast time, Honolulu time,
Manila time, and Tokyo time. That was all set forth,
because the Japanese operate entirely on Tokyo time, that
is, all of thelr time business in the Japanese Navy 1is
run on Tokyo time.

So that a consideration of these times 1s necessary
to get & view as to what is understandable in relatlon

to sunrise and sunset, and other phenomena that have a

rather important effect on naval operations.
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Senator Lucas: You mean the Navy was run on Tokyo

time?

Captain McCollum: The Japanese navy was run.on Tokyo
time; that 1s correct, sir.

Senator Lucas: I am sorry I interrupted you.

Captain McCollum: Thank you sir.
As a result of that, Kramer had worked out these times

and those times were shown Jjust on a rough sheet of paper

as they appeared to Admiral Stark. The suggestion was made

at that time that this indicated that if anything was goling
to oceur, 1t would probably start about tha: time.
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As T remember it, Admiral Stark plcked up the
receiver of his telephone and attempted to contact someone
otar the telephone. It was my impression at the time tﬁat
he had tried to get the Chief of Staff of the Army, and
had been unsuccessful in getting through.

By this time, a'good many of the senior officers of
the Division of Operations had come in. They were 1n and
out of Admiral Stark’s office. Various times of the morn-
ing, Admirel Turner was there, Admiral Ingersoll was there,
Admiral Brainard, I am certain Admiral Noyes was there,
and of course, my chief, Admiral Wilkinson.

Later on, sbout 11 o‘clock or maybe later in the
morning, I was glven to understand that it had been declded
to send a warning to Pearl Harbor -- T wish to stand cor-
rected there, to the forces in Hawaii, including the Fleet,
and thatthe warning dispatch was to be handled by the Chilef
of Staff of fhe.hrmy and it would be in a form which would
be sent to General Short who would be instructed to trans-
mit the substance of that c¢ispatch to the Commander in
Chief of our Fleet, Admiral Klmmel.

Myr. Kaufman: One further question, Captain.

An examination of Exhibit 142, and some of the other

dispatches, indicates deleys in transmission. Will you

tell us whether anythineg wes done about that?
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. Captain McCollum: As to that part of it, there are
’ officers of the technical service that are probably better
4 gualified to answer that than I am. However, I would
8 venture this general explanation: |
A These dispatches were intercepted at a great many
. intercept or pick-up stations located in various parts
s | of the world. .
g ano they were picked up, the pick-up station had no
. 10 personnel qualified to either decode or translate any of
? i this material. They only had operators who were skilled
; 4 in taking the Japanese equlvalent of our Morse code. Those
; - dispatches, therefore, from any given pick-up station, when
g " received, were sent to a center, depending on who was the
i '8 control center -- either Washington, Pearl Harbor, or
e Corregldor.
¥ They might have sent it either by radio, teletype,
s or by mail.
5 Radio andteletype facilities were not always avallable.
2% Vhen sent by mall to one of the decryption and trans-
& lational centers, as soon as they arrived, there was an
o office procedure for taking through the dispatch, and
23 | an attempt was made to decrypt the code.
as It 1s my understanding that priorities were first

su ‘ given on the basis of the code classifilcatlon. In other

Il
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h6 : words, the higher the code classification, probably the
. s more important the information was.
: There was also the precedence of the dispatch, that
L is the urgency with which it was sent. Those were obtalned
" from time normal procedure signs a.t' the heg.d of the dispatch.
. Then an attempt was made to decrypt them together,
; if we had the particular qode table in which that code
was sent.
0
" We did not always have it, Sometlmes It.hese codes
§ g would be received and we did not have the method or means
. !12_- " of decrypting them until sometime afterwards.
g oo Once it was decrypted, or sufficiently decrypted to
§ ., || inatcate some jmportance, it was handed to one of the
i e translators who took a look at it to détermine whether he
22 thouzht it shogld be completely broken down for further
i decryption. That had to be done because of the limited
s 5 number of people cepable of translating the language,
5 and to make the very best use of the people we had.
- When we were working full blast, the weay we were,

. o oh, for the month immediately preceding the attack on our
& Fleet, great effort was made to get the stuff out on these
> negotiations right away, Jjust as quickly as we possibly
2 could.,

22 ~ Now, thatwas depenent on the time of arrival at the

T N — L amme S . i e e e SR R e B
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h7 S decoding oeﬁter, which was not of necessity directly

. 2 related to the time of transmission from Tokyo, whether
3 the code to decode it was available or not, and dependent
> upon the relative importance of it as determined prior
3 to reading any of the contents.

Larry -
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Sﬁt:k 5 Now, when you come then to a slack period, that 1s,
a when we weren't getting sO many messages, they would go
i back and work on the old ones. The efforf-was to decode
£ everything but to try to deqode the most important ones
& first.
> Mpy. Keufmen: Captain, you sald g moment ago that
: Pearl Harbor was a central poiﬁt for decryption. What
2 type ﬁessagps were decrypted at Pearl Harbor, if you know?
. 10 Captain McCollum: Going back soméwhat here, sir,
§ i3 | the Navy Communications Tntelligence organization was
. ; -2 set up first with headquarters in Washington. Then we
g . || put en organization out in the Asiatic spheres with head-
é g quarters in Cavite first, and later at Corregidor. Ve
': |l originally had pick-up stetions in Pokin, Shanghai, Giain,
' and I think at one time one almost in Japain, some years
o ago.
) Until the early 30's very 11ttle had been done so far
% ! as Hanolulu was concerned. We didn't have very uwany
a people. The first idea was that they would be a moblle
3 | movement, that would move with the Commander in Chief of
. || the meet. I had such a movement when I was Fleet Intelll-

P officer. That was found unworkable. They couldn't

o o get the sets. As a pesult of that, a route of eniry was

2% || set up in Honolulu with the hope that thnt could bhe hullt

!l

. R e
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up.
Until about early 1941, we had only, it is my under-

standing, a very rudimentary organization in Honolulu. At

' that time we were very fortunate in having become avall-

able the services of Captain Rochefort, who is the only

of ficer in our Navy who 1s a top-flight cryptrographer,

and radio man, and who also has a thorough knowledge of
tho Japanese language. He was obtained from the staff

of Vice Admiral Andrews, and put in charge at Honolulu
with instructions to build up hils organization as rapidly
as he could.

He did not get very much help, I believe, from

Washington. We didn't have the people, and he was in the
process of building up that organizatian with the primary

job of making an effort to break Japansse naval codes and

ciphers when the war occurred.

Tt is my understanding that they did not have the com-
plete codes to enable them to read the Japanese diplomatic
messages, nor is 1t my understanding that they were
expected to; that their principal effort was to be directed
on an attack on Japanese naval codes.

Mr. Kaufman: Do you know whether Admiral Turner

thought that the organizatlon in Hawail could decode Japanese

diplomatic codes?

S
A . SRR WIS -
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Captain McCollum: This is hearsay, Mr. Counsellor.

I heard him say before this committee that he thought 80,
sir. ‘

T wish to clarify one point. This organization at
Honolulu by dropping everything else that they were doing
and using some of the standard books that they had, and
by exerclsing cryptographic efforts, 1n other words, a
direct attack with some of the very clever officers they
then had out éﬁerq, were able to read the glst of some of
the low-grade stuff in the Japanese diplomatic ciphers.

In other words, it was & major cryptographic effort
on each code, that waé my understanding, but they couldn't
pread it right straight through.

My. Kaufman: Now, coming back to the meeting at
Admiral Stark’s office on Sunday morning after you had the
one ofclock delivery date for the message, did any officer
at that meeting suggest Pearl Harbor was a possible point
of attach?

Captain McCollum: Pearl Harbor as such was never men-
tioned. The feeling that I had, and I think the feeling that
most officers there had, was that at or near the outbreak
of war with Japan, we could expect a surprise attack on the

Fleet.

When I was acting Fleet Operations Officer of the Fleet

T — -
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Qight in our Standard Fleet Operating Plans of War was
the ma jor assumption that upon the 6utbregk of war with
Japan, or the near outbreak of war with Japan, we could
expect a surprise attack or an attempted surprise attack
on the Fleet.

I recollect, by way of i1llustration, if I may, at
Christmas, 1937, we went on an all-out alert on the battle-
ships and fleet based on the West Coast, and that went
on for some time.

Mr. Kaufman: If 1t was the asaumption of all of the
officers there that there would be an attempted surprise
attack on the Fleet, did not that mean Peﬁrl Harbor because
the Fleet was at Pearl Harbor?

Captain MeCollum: That 1s correct, but i1f the Fleet

had not been at Pearl Harbor it would mean wherever the

Fleet was.
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- Mr. Kaufman: But it was never suggested that Pearl
.’ 3 Harbor better go on an all-out alert immediately?

4 Captain MecCollum: I think the thinking was in terms

of the Flest, Mr. Counsellor, that the Flest should have

3 been alerted all the way through.

7 Mr. Kaufman: Did the officers there assume that Pearl
Harbor was on an all-out alert, both Army and Navy?
o Captain McCollum: I had been given to understand that

10 they had been thoroughly alerted, sir, and on their toes.

3 i1 Mr. Kaufman: No further questions, Mr. Chairman.

E 12 The Chairman: Just one or two questions, Captailn.
. : 13 Did you state what date 1t was in December that this

% 14 message came through that seemed to refer to Russia but

E 15 which you did not regard as an execute?

~ S Captain McCollum: I think, Senator, that it is right

17 l here, sir, if I may refer to it.

18 The Chairman: Yes.

19 Captain McCollum: One of them here 1s on the 5th of

21 is one on the 4th of December, sir.

|
20 Jl December and I think there is one preceding that. Here
|

The Chairman: If any execute message, in view of your

0
w

23 position, which could have been regarded as an execute
24 message, predicated upon this winds forecast, had come to

the Navy Department, would you have seen 1T?
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Captain McCollum: I should have seen it, yes, sir.

The Chalrman: Was there any reason, if it did come,
why you wouldnit have seen 1t?

Captain McCollum: Oh, occasionally,I believe it has
been testified here before there was a special arrangement
made here by the Director of Communications, Admiral Noyes,
to get this information promptly higher up in the chain
than I was, Admiral Stark and Admiral Turner, and 80 on,
under those conditions 1t would be possible that they would
overlook me, but in the normal chain I should have seen that
first, sir.

The Chairman: If such a message or a similar message
came through in what office would a record of it be kept?

Captain McCollum: That should be kept down in the
Communications Intelligence 0ffice.

The Chairman: It would have come there first?

Captain MecCollum: That is correct.

The Chairman: They would have kept a record or a copy
of 1t and sent it up to the next order?

Captain McCollum: They would have gone through their
office filing procedure, Senator, on that, and Kramer or
one of his assistants would have brought me that instantly.

The Chairmen; When .1t got to you would there be a

record of it in your office?
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Captain McCollum: No, sir.

The Chairman: You passed it on upstairs. You kept no
record then?

Captain McCollum: I took those messages in my offilce,
Senator, and filed them in & file and kept them for a period
of about two weeks, when they were then returned to the
Communications Intelligence Section, where those messages
were destroyed, sir.

The Chairman: In case such a message went up to

Admiral Wilkinson and thence up to Admiral Stark, so that

all of them saw it, would there be any record in each of

those offices that the message had been recelved?
Captain MeCollum: No, slr.

The Chairman: Would not?
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Captain MeCollum: No, sir. It was carried by an
officer by hand to these people and every effort made to

get a copy and return it to the Communications Intelligence

Center, who then kept the master file.

The Chairman: So that the only office in which there
would be a written record of the receipt of this message
would be in the office where 1t was recelved?

Captain McCollum: That 1is right.

The Chairman: Who was in charge of that?

Captain MecCollum: Captain Safford would be the head
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or‘that office.

The Chairman: Now, the intercept that was received
indicated that if certain things happened, if they got this
weather forecast from Tokyo, east wind rain, and so forth,
it was based upon an assumption that dn‘amergenoy came into
being, and then they spell out';hat the emergency is in their
mind by saying "breaking off relations".

Captain McCollum: That parenthesis is a translator's
explanation, Senator. In other words, the translator has
glven you the exact Japanese translation and then he in
parenthesis gives you the full force and meaning of the
Japan3303 8ir, which is not always possible in a direct
translation.

The Chairman: In other words, what is in the parenthesis
is his interpretation.

Captain McCollum: Is the translator's interpretation
and explanation of his use of the words.

The Chairman: And the other part is as to the breaking
of communications. They are two separate things.

Captain McCollum: Yes, sir.

The Chairman: Diplomatic relations might be broken
between the two governments.

Captain MeCollum: That is correct.

The Chalirman: But without any breaking of diplomatic
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relations communications might be cut off?

Captain McCollum: That 1is right.

The Chairman: Even private communications, telegraph

or radio?

Captain McCollum: Yes, sir.

The Chairmen: In case those things happened and they

got this broadcast about the weather they would understand.

Captain McCollum: Yes, sir.

So that the basis upon which the execute

The Chairman:

message would be sent was never in exlstence. There vas

no diplomatic break of relations and no breaking of communi-
catlions between Japan and the United 3tates or between the
communications systems, public or private, prior to the

attack?

Captain McCollum: That is right.

The Chalrman: 30 the basis upon which they were pre-

dicting that such an execute message might come through

never transpired?

Captein McCollum: That is correct.

The Chairman: If such a message hed come through it

would have been In a sense premature because conditions for

forecasting it did not take place?

Captain MecCollum: That is right; unless they wished

to use this and forccast the action which they expected to
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The Vice Chairman

occur some hours later, but as you pointed out, that did
not occur.
- The Chairman: That is all.

Congressman Cooper.

The Vice Chairman: Captain, why was not priority given
to the decoding, decrypting and translating of these Japanese
messages?

In other words, what I am trying to ascertain is this,

I got the impression that these intercepted Japanese messages
were handled more or less in a routine manner. I vas
wondering why the highest type of prilority was not given

for the immedlate decoding, decrypting and translating of
these messages intercepted from Japanese sources.

Captain McCollum: Oh, but they were, sir. If the
impression was given that the thing was routine, that 1= a

vrong lmpression, sir. Everyone was working tooth and nall

to get these things out as quickly as they possibly could, sir.

The Vice Chairman: To the exclusion of others?
Ceptain McCollum: That is correct, sir. In other
words, fhe people working on the Japanese, the major effort
vaes put on the Japanese and all other +things that had rela-

tion to 1t wvere dropped completely out of the picture.

E%ery effort of that organlzation was bent on this thing,

the decrypting of These dilspatches.
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The Vice Chalirman.; My recollection is that the evidence
preaexited here during the appearance of General Miles, who
was G-2 of the G?nera.l Staff of the Army, as you know, 1t
was ocalled to his attention that all the way from 2 to 20-o0dd
deys of time elapsed from the time the Japanese message
was sent before it was decoded and translated.

Now, did anything of that kind happen with 1:1-19 Navy?

Ceptain MeCollum: Yes, sir; I have tried to expla.:l.n'
that, sir. In other words, 1f I may take a hypothetical
case, assume that a Japanese diplomatlc dispatch was picked
up in one of the pick-up stations in Alaska. I, again, do
not know the physical means they had but there were such
stations that the only communication they had was by maill.
Assume, again, that that was the only station that plcked
up that particular dispatch. That would come in to us here
in Washington we will say by mail. As much as a week might
elapse from the time it was actually received at the pick-up
gstation until it was received in the Deccding Center in
Weshington. The minute that thing then came in it would

be looked at to see if we had the code that would permit

a8 to decode it, sir. If we had that code it would be

decoded in part, handed to a translator who would translate

part of it to ascertain vhether, as far as he had gone,

vhether it merited complete breakdown, particularly if there
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was more code work to be done on 1t.

Then if it didn't look important it would be set aside
in favor of things that looked to be more important and
pressing, sir.

Those things were done first. Then when you came to
a slack time everything that you hadn’t done before would
be decoded. The set-up was to try to decode what appeared
to be the most important things first and get them out just
as quickly as we could, s8ir.

The Vice Chairmen: Now, can you tell by review of these
messages that have been presented here in evidence that the
nmost important messeges were handled more promptly than the
less I1mportant messages?

Caeptain McCollum: I think so, sir.

The Vice Chairmen: You think that is the true situation?

Ceptain McCollum: I think that is the true situation

looking at it all over, sir. I think the most important

" ones wéent out first.

The Vice CMi@: of course, you are an expert 1in
this and I am not.

Ceptain MeCollum: Np, sir, I am not an expert. AS
I said before, ?ir, T am not an expert in that field and I
believe there will be an officer here, Captain Safford,

and perhaps others, who are much better qualified to explaln
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5 || in detail on those points than I am, sir. ‘
s The Vice Chairman: Well, at least you have had much t
4 more experience with it than I ﬁave, that 1s a falr statement, ‘-
& isn't it?
8 Captain McCollum: Thank you, sir. lr"
. The Vice Chairman: Of course, there is a definite
8 physical problem involved in this type of work. E
o Ceptain McCollum: Yes, sir. Not only that, I might
10 add, Mr. Congressma.n , but there is a mental problem involved. ;
2 1 Senator Lucas: A what? i
E (2 Ceptain McCollum; A menteal problem. This type of
Z 13 work is one of the most trying mental exercises that you {
g 14 ” nave . ‘ [
E L5 | The Vice Chairman: I cen apprecilate that. |
(4) - 16 Captain McCollum: We have had a number of our offlcers :
17 and & number of our civil people break down rather badly
18 wnder continual punching on this sort of thing and it 1s a
19 continual concern of officers who handle those people to

20 xeep them from coming to & mental breakdown on this type

21 of work.

. | 22 1 The Vice Chairman: I can readily appreciate that 1t
23 is a difficult task. That would certainly be my idea about 1t.

2i | T want to see if you can clear me up on this point.

'i‘he records presented here, these exhibits of the messages,
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rather indicate that some relatively unimportant messages
gere decoded and translated more promptly than some other
messages here which were much more important. Now, can you
help me some on that?

Captain McCollum: That may be because on the more
important messages they weren't able to break them at the
time they arrived. They might not have arrived until after
the unimportant ones were here. On the more important
messages we couldn’t use all of our translators. We had to
use only the few top-flight ones. We only had six or seven.
We had increased our number 100 percent, sir, but it was
2t111 six or seven when ve got through with that in 1941.

And, if I may bé pardoned for going back to this, the
so-called translator in this type of stuff almost has to
be a cryptographer himself. You understand tha.t_these things
come out in the form of syllables, and 1t 1s how you group
your syllables that you make your words. There 1s no
punctuatlion.

Now, without the Chinese i1deograph to rea.d from 1t
is most difficult to group these things together. That i1s,
any two sounds grouped together to meke a word may mean
a variety of things. For instance, "Ba", may mean horses
or fields, old women, or my hand, all depending on the

ideographs with which it 1s written. On the so-called
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translator 1s forced the job of taking from unrelated
syllables and grouping them into what looks to him to be

intelligible words, substituting then such of the Chinese
ideographs necessary to pin it down, and then going ahead
yith the translation, which is a nuch more difficult job
than simple translation, sir.

For that reason all of the people, however qualifiled
they might be in the Japanese language, had to have con-
siderable experience in this particular fileld before they
could be trusted to come through with a correct interpreta-
tion of the. dispatch.

The Vice Chairman: I can understand those difficultles.
Is it true that many words in the Japanese language can be
given a variety of meanings, as you have Indicated by this
one word you have used here?

Ceptain McCollum: It depends on the Chinese ldeograph.
The reason is this: The Japanese language 1s an uninflm:f.ed
language. It is straight out. They borrowed and applied
to the Jepanese the Chinese characters. The Chinamen indi-
cate a dilfference between. the characters by a difference
of inflection. Therefore the Chinaman, when he talks, sounds
1ike he is singing. The Japanese, not being able to sj_ng;
vhen he says "Ba", we will say, he doesn't know whether it

is one of a half a dozen different things that he means. It
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is not uncommon to see two Japanese in discussion who get
out of tune and one of them has to write the character
down to show the other what he is talking about.

The Vice Chairmen: In ordinary conversatlon?

Captain McCollum: Yes, sir.

The Vice Chairman: Well, I might take a second to
state that T had the experience one time when I was In
school of meeting & Chinese student , and he seid "So many
words in your lenguage mean such & different thing." He
«aid, "You talk about & horse running fast and then you
talk about & man being tied hard and fast." He said, "One
:s going and the other can't move at all. What do you mean."

T cen understand some of the difficulties. Let me
ask, 1f I may, assume that one of our statlons somewhere
nicked up & Japanese message. It 1s then rushed by the

fostest aveilable means of communicatlion to a center where

the decoding, decrypting and transleting is done. I8

that correct?
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Captain MoCollum: That is ocorrect, sir,

The Vice Chairman: Then there is somebody theve who has
to meke an appraisal on the value of the information contalined
in that message?

Captain MoCollum: Yes, sir, that is correct, but that
appraisﬁl in the first instunce is done without the beneflt of
reading any of 1t,

The Vice Chairman: Just by looking at 1t?

Captain MoCollum: By Judging from the -- as I say, I
may be ocontradicted later on because I am not exaot on this,
but you have at least two methods of Judiment of that. One
1s the urgenocy of the dispatch, in other words, whether it
is priority, triple priority or so on.

The Vice Chairman: The Japanese, do they use terms for
that?

Captein MoCollum: Not those terms, but I mean they use
a similar system. Thoy have to in practlcally all of these
systems,

The Vice Chairman: I gee.

Captain MoCollum: Then by looking at it they could tell
whether it was in one of the highest seocurity codes or a ocode
of less security or what kind of code and the presumption
wae that the hl:her the security of the code the more lmport-

ant was the informatien contuined ln that, sir,
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The Vice Chairman: And then uafter that appralsal was

made =

Captein MoCollum: Then after that you would look to

see where 1t oame from, whether it was the embassy 1in Washing-

ton, the Foreign Office 1n Tokyo talking, or something th&t
concerned us more direotly.

The Vine Chairman: And after that appralsal was made ,
why, then --

Captain McCollum: After that they would then see whether
1t was a code they could read themselves or whe ther some
oryptographioc work was required, how much of 1t we had, how
much could be deorypted of that, if it could all be deorypted
or not., It would be deorypted, or barta of 1t would be aid
then.hahded to a translator if it looked urgent, All these
factors were considered in there :nd it was then sent to a
man who then said from virtually looking at the Japane«e
syllables said, "I think that they ought to work full blast
on this one or spend mﬁre time on that one and get it out,"

The Vice Chairman: Then your explanautlion of the de-
talls of getting at these messages 1s to explaln, apparently,
the delay in the decoding, deorypting and translating of scme

of them?

Captain MoCollum: Yes, sir. We tried to run time

after time what we oalled technically tlme studles 1in there;
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2 that 1s, to see how f ast we could get them out.

s The Vice Chairman: As I recall, we also received in-

4 formation that one diffioulty was the laok of trained, quali-
5 fied personnel.

e Captain MoCollum: O©Oh, yes, sir, that was all the way

- through. I might add on that, sir, that from 1907 until the
8 outbreak of the war in 1941 the Navy had exposed to Japanese
9 language lnstruction a total of abeout fifty officers. By

10 1941 about 43 of those were available, either active or re-

11 tired. All but eight of those people were on gpeclalty Jjobs

12 when the war commenced,
13 In Cotober of 1941 the Navy started schools for the ine

14 struotion of college men in the Japanese language and those

2 Q "NOLONIHSYM "INYd ¥ QuvYm

15 echools opened on 1 October 1941, I think, with about 40
16 selected students, one at Harvard and the other at the Uni-

17 || verslty of California out in Berkeley. They were subsequently

18 ocombined at Boulder in Celorado, sir,
10 The Vice Chairman: ell, Captain, to invite your at-
20 tentlon to what I have been trying to inquire about, on page

21 245 of exhiblt 1 in the middle of the paze ther: appears a

25 brief messaze there from Tokyo to Washington. It apparently
23 was sent Deocember 6, 1941 and is shown to have been trans-
24 lated the same day. That would not be a very important mes-

25 sage, would 1it7
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Capjtm McoCollum: No, sir, but on this thing, this micht
have oleared right away as it oame in. In other words, the
code might have been immediately avallable. It was a simple
matter to put it into Japanese and 1f was simple and 1t wes
translaved almost by looking at it.

The Vice Chairman: But you would not regard this as an
importunt mesea:ie, the opening words there, "There is reslly
no need to tell you this"y

Captain MoCollum: No, 8ir; thot is corraot,

The Vice Chairman: But that waB translated fhe sBame day
it wus sent.

Captain MoCollumi That is right, sir,

The Vice Chairman: Now, then, I-invite.rour attention to
page 29 of exhlbit*?a Do you have it there?

Captain !MoCollum: Yes, seir,

The Vice Chairman: A message from Honolulu to Tokyo
sent December 6, 1941, not translated until the 8th, Deocember
8, 1941, That was two days luter. That would be -—-

Captain MoCollum: Thut 18 an important message.

The Vice Chairman: That would be*an lmportant message,
wouldn't 1t?

Captain McCollum: That 18 an important messace.

The Vice Chairman: What T am trying to get at 15, two

| mesBages sent on Decembear 6th;, one of them of practiceglly no

.
L]
3 .
-
"
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2 1nportanog translated that day, another message sent on De-
3 || oember the Sth that was important not translated for two days
4 later,

5 Captain MoCollum: Yes, sir, that 18 ocorreot. As I have
e ||®#ald before, sir, 1fnannot answer that directly because it

7 || would depend so much, sir, on where the plok-up staution was

8 ||located thut got this thing and how fast they got it in to

o || Washington, sir. There 1s nothing in this dispatch to indi-

10 ocate when 1t was received in the deoryption center here, sir.

£
: ? 11 The Vice Chuirman: But it is an important message -
; 12 Captain McCollum: It is.
§ 13 The Vice Chairman: (Continuing) -- because they were
g 14 inquiring about our air reconnaigsanoe.
: 15 Captain MoCollum: That is correct, sir.
16 The Vise Chalirman: And thinzs there in Hawaii,
17 Captuin MoCollum: That is right, sir,
18 The Vioce Chalrman: Now, Captain, did you state that the
19 |[best decoding, deorypting and translating officer in the
20 ||United States Navy was at Pearl Harbor? You gave the name of
. 21 |/[|some man, I

22 Captain MoCollum: That was my impression, Mr., Cooper.

23 |[(I have known Rochefort a good many years.

24 The Vice (hairman: 'Yhat i1s the name?

25 Captaln MoCollum: Rodhefort, £ir{ Re0=0=h=@=f-p-Iet.
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The Vice Chairman: ‘“hat was hls rank?

Captain MoCollum: He was then a Commander, sir,

The Vice Chairman: Commander Rochefort?

Captain MoCollum: Yes, sir. As early as 1925, Mr,
Cooper, he wus looked on as being one of the outetanding orypt-
ographers and radio officers in the servilce and because of
those special qualifiocations he was sent to Japan to aoqﬁlro
a knowledze of the Japanese language, which he did, and to my
mind he 1s the only officer in the entire naval servliace that
in this partidular*rield i8 preeminent because of hils train-

ing in both the language and the deoryptlien, tozether with my

evaluation of his abilitr. I rate him as one of the ablest
off icers in the service, sir,

The Vice Chairman: 4And he was on duty there 1n Hawall
on December 7th?

Captain MoCollum: That 18 correct, sir,

The Vice Chairman: And had been for some time prior
thereto?

Captain MoCollum: In May, I belleve 1t was, of 1941 he
took over that Job.

The Vice Chalrman: Hew ent to Hawall in May 1941 and
continued there until after December 7, 19417

Captain MoCollum: And he stayed there until the Battle

of Midway, s8ir.
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genator Lucas: Will the Congressman yield for a queation
on that polint?

The Vice Chairman: Yes, I yleld, Senator.

FSQnator Luocas: What equipment did he have compared with
what you had in the cent8r here at washington for deorypting,
decoding and translating?

Captain MoCollum: As I have indicated, Senator, he wase
in the process of getting things organized. His Job was to
meke an attack on the naval ocodes. I am not informed as to
the details of the equipment, sir, I belleve that Captain
gafford, who was the head of that gection, can give you that
information in detail, sir, and anything I might say might
merely becloud the issue, sir.

' The Vice Chairman: Is that all?
denator Lucas: Thank you, 81lr,

| The Vice Chairman: Then this Commander Rochefort you say

had been engaged in this type of work from 19257

Capuin MoCollum: It was my understanding, 8ir -- well,
Mr. Congressman, the first time I had ever heard of this sort
of thing was in 1925, when 1 worked for a brief period here
in the Navy Department, sir, At that tlme Jafford wae in that
saeotion and I understood that he and Rochefort more or less
alternated in that job, Safford I belleve was a Lieutenant

then and Rocheford was a Lieutenant, Junior Grads, and when 1
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was Assistant Naval Attache in Tokyo this fellow Rochefort was
up there with a wife and a ohild and I sent a dispatoh te the
Navy Department protesting the sending of a marriled naval of=-
ficer out there because livinz conditions were most diffloult
and our general rule was that an offlcer that studled Javan-
ene wae unmarried larzely because of the diffliculty of sup-
porting a family and keeping his wife and children hapoy while
he buried himself in this language business, and I was told
that they had speclal reasons for overlooking the normal 1n-
oumbrance of a wife and a child, that this fellow was golng to
atay anﬁvay, 80 it was only after I got back teo Washington
and talked to him about it later, in 1930, that I commenced to
realize why they had sent this individual out there.

The Vice Chairman: It wae because of hia abllity in that
fleld?

Captain MoCollum: That 18 correct.

The Vice Chairman: When.waé thet that he arrived in
Japanf?

Captain MocCollum: That, I belleve, was 1n 1929, sir,

The Vice Chairman: Now, d4id you state that these inter-

cepted Japanese messages we re sant to Pearl Harbor by the

| stations that piloked up the message?

Captcin MoCollum: Yes, sir, they had a plck-up method.

whether Pearl Harbor merely ngsged them on to the decryption

(!
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"

center here or not, I do not know, sir. I think each one of

- these centers, - the idea was that each one of these scenters

controlled a certain piock-up station. Those pick~up stations
flowed -~ the information went from the plok-up station to
the oenter and then anything that center ocould not do they
sent on to another center that cculd handle it.

For inatance, these diplomaiic messages of the Pearl
Harbor net or the Hawall net might well be flown into the --
might well have moved first into the center at Hawaill and
then been transmitted by radlo or cable direoct to Waahington
beczuse they were not working on this partioular type of stuff
out there, sir,

The Vice Chairman: Well, now, Honolulu was a center --

Captain MoCollum: Thst 18 correct,

The Vice Chairman: (Continuing) -- for those intercevnted
Japanese messages to be sent to?

Captain MoCollum: That 1s ocorrect, sir.

The Vice Chairman: #nd they had the best man in the
Navy in Hawall at the time qualified to do this type of work?

Captain McCollum: Yes, sir; that 1s my opinien as to
his abllity, sir. Someone else might differ with me on that.

The Vioe Chairman: You certainly ought to know more

about that than I de.

Now, on th&ét questlion, Capialn, of thls messaze that you

. = T -
o pr—— e
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referred to as the bomb plotting message, dividing up of
Pearl Harbor into five seotors.

Captain MoCollum: Yes,

The Vice Chairman: Now, did you ever in all of your wlde
experience in the Navy know of any request for such detaliled
information about the locatien of our Fleet as was called for

in that message?

Captain MoCollum: No, sir., Might I elaborate on 1t a
bit, 8ir?

The Vice Chairman: Yes, I would be glad for you to.

Captain MoCollum: The anchorage there at Pearl Harbor

is chopped up into a number of more or less independent loochs

there. When we moved the Fleet in and out of that place where

2 G "NOLONIHSYM "INnvd ¥ QdvyMm

the ships were moored in there, whether they were pointing in
or peinting out, whether they were double banked or whether

hthey were in the east losh or west looh or wheraver they might

Hbe, wae indicative of the facility with which the ships ocould
move out, The channel going in is falirly shallow and a shlp
the size of & battleship has to move at relatively reduced
speeds,

I am speaking, if I may say so, from my experience as
Operatigns Offloer on Admiral Hepburn's flag when we moved

the Fleet in znd out of that pla~e two or three times.

The Vice Chairman: Did you serve at one time as Opera-

|
||

h
y
| m
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2 tions Officer of the Fleet?
3 Captain MoCollum: I was Assistant Operaticns Offiocer of

4 the Flee%t and Acting Operations Off icer of the United States
s || Fleet for about seven months, sir, I gerved as Assistant

8 Operations Officer for about eighteen months.

7 The Vice Chalirman: Whille the Fleet was based at Pearl L
8 Harbor?
0 CaptglnhMoCollum: Well, 8lr, we were not based fhore but
g 10 we went there.
? y The Vice Chairman: You went there?
; 2 Captaln MoCellum: That 1s correot, sir,
§ 13 The Vice Chailrman: All right, go ahead.
; 14 Captalin MoCollum: So that those questirns relating to
: 16 how the ships were anchored and where they were anchored in

16 there might be interpreted to indicate thé facility with whioch

17 that Fleet was prepared to move.

18 To give a general statement of where the ships were, the
19 || stuff they are rﬁquiring here, would require a rather long

20 ||winded dispatch, where the same device, such as breaking it
21 ||up into areas A, B and C, such a simple device could be used.
22 |{With thls area dlucovered a rather simple and short dispatoh
23 ||would suffice to give the essentlal information as teo the lo-

24 caticn of the Fleet and also an indicstion of their readiness

2s |[(for sortle, I would suggest that that is a reasonable, tenable

L e e i —— . T gy i et g . BT s - £ - - -
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hypothesis as to why they wished information, apparently, in
this detall, .

The Vice Chailrman: Now, then, one other question, if I
may, please, Captain. Did you ever knew of a Fleet commander
taking the position that all information recelved by the Navy
Department in Washington should be sent to him for his evalu-
etion?

Captain MoCollum: Well, sir, I have not served intlmately
with any large number of Fleet commanders, but certalinly
neither the Fleet Commander Admiral Hepburn that I served with,

nor the Fleet Commander, Admiral Kincaild, that I recently

'aerved with, took that atultude, sir,

The Vice Chairman: Hasn't it always been generally re-
cognized that the Navy Department is supposed to make certain
evaiuations and give appropriate informatlion and instructions
to Fleet communders?

Captain MoCollum: That wae the basis on which I under-
stood that we were operating here in Washington, sir,

The Vice Chairman: Well, hasn't that been the traditicnal
policy of the Unlted States Navy?

Cantain McCollum: So fuir as I am aware, yes, slr,

The Vice Chairman: All right, thank you. Senator Georze
of Ggorgia may inquire. |

Senator Georze: I never heard the direot, Mr., Chairman,
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60 I willl pass. I did not hear his direot.

Thé Vice Chalrman: Mr. Clark had to go to a meeting
of the Rules Committee. Senator Lucas of Illinois is recog-
ni-ed at this time, It is now about three minutes to 12,
Senator. Would you like to start after Lunch?

Senutor Lucas: I will start after lunch,

The Vice Chalrman: At this point the committee will
take a recess until two o'clock, please, Captain, Be baok
at that time.

(Whereupon, at 11:57 A.M., January 30, 1946, a

recess was tuken until 2:00 P.M, of the same day.(
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2 'AFTERNOON SESSION 2:00 p.m.
(. The Vice Chairman: The committee will please be in
order.
Come forward, please, Captaln.
TESTTMONY OF CAPTATN ARTHUR HOWARD MC COLLUM, U.S. NAVY
. (Resumed )
The Vice Chairmad: Does counsel have anything at ‘this
time before examinﬂﬁion is resumed?
Mr. Richardson: No.
/ The Vice Chairman: Captain, do you have anything you
want to bring to the attentlion of the conmittee before your

examination is resumed?

Ccaptain MeCollum: NoO, sir.

The Vige Chairman: Senator Lucas of I1linois will now
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inquire.

Senator Lucas: Captain, I am not sure just the route
that one of these messages tekes from the time it is inter-

cepted until it finally gets into the high command. With

the hope of avoiding repetition I should like to have you

take, for instance, the so-called pillot messagé -- which,
as T understand, you saw and were famillar with?
ceptain McCollum: Yeos, sir.

Senator Tuces: Now, whore was thab intercepted, 1if

you remembelr?
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Witness McCollum

Captaein McCollum: Senator, I do not know where it

was intercepted, sir.

Senator Lucas: I see. Where was 1t e.qalyzed, decrypted
and decoded, or whatever term you use?

Ceptain MoCollum: My :anressioh is that thot was daone
here in Washington.

Senator Lucas: Where is that statlion located?

Captain MeCollum: The center for doing that work was
right in the Navy Department at that time.

Senator Lucas: Tn the Navy Department?

Captein McCollum: Yes, sir.

Senator Tucas: Who would be in charge of that work
in December 19417

Captain McCollum: Captailn safford was the officer
17 charge of that section, sir.

genator Iucas: Captain Safford was the officer in charge?

Captain McCollum: Yes, sir.

Senator Lucas: Did he possess all of the necessaz;y
xmowledge in order to properly decrypt, translate, decode
these masaageé? ~

Captain McCollum: Not in his vperson, but within his
organization, yes, sir.

Jenator Iycas:; He did not have that pesculiar informa-

tion within himself?




10

11

12

13

14

15

D .0 MOTOMIHEAW . JUAS & ORAAW

16

17

18

10

20

2l

22

23

24

&8

|

Captain McCollum:
I
|

9183
Questions by. Senator Luces

He is one of the best cryptographers

Witness McCollum.
Ca.pta.:l.n McCollum:
and experts on the radio aspects of this thing in the Navy.
That is his reputation, sir. He 1s not a Japanese language
man, B:Lr..

I understand. So you would have to

Senator Luocas:
rely upon the Japanese language men for proper translation?

Ceptain McCollum: xes, sir. I

Senator Lucas: And when he would translate it he would
then transmit 1t to -- what 1s the name, Captain Safford?

Captain McCollum: No, sir. When translated that came

directly to me, sir.
Senator Luces: Where did Captein Safford get in on 1it?
Captain MoCollum: Captain Safford was the gdministrative

head and the director of the whoie organization. Then that

organizetion is broken down into certain parts, one of

which you might -call the translation-distribution center

whose people weré actually attached to my office but worked

| under Safford and were headed up by Kramer.,

I Senator Lucas: Do I understand Safford then saw all

of the messages?

Ordinarily he would see them all,
either as a check-up or as they went through office procedure,
but occasionally, if something hot came in Kramer could

come directly with it to me or higher authority.

 Senator Luces: Mter the Japanese language student
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translated the messages they were presumed to go to
Captain Safford? K
Captain McCollum: I didn't quilte understand.
Senator Lucas: I say, after they were translated by
the Japanese language student these messages were presumed
at least to go to Safford?
Captain McCollum: Captain Safford would see them sooner
or later, but not necessarily immediately.
Senator Iucaes: You saw them all, 1s that correct?
Captain McCollum: That was the idea, yes, sir. |
Mr. Keefe; Is that an answer to your question, Senator?
Senator Lucas: He sald that was the 1dea.
Captain McCollum: If I haven't answered your question -
I will try to do so. |
Senator Tucas: . I sald was it your duty as a result
of the position you held at that time to examine each and
every one of the messsges that came from the language student?
Captain McCollum: Yes, sir.

Senator Lucas: After you e:ﬁamﬂ.ﬁed one of these messages
what did you do with it? |
Captain McCollum: I then indicated the distributlon
within the Navy Department, sir, and made sure that my opposite

numbers in the War Department had 1t, sir.

Senator Liucas: That was ordinarlly a standerd distribution? |
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Department needed additional ones I added that for 1f the

ones I considered important had not been so marked I added

those marks to them.

Senator Luces: Who delivered the so-called pilot
message, what did you do with it, if you remember?

Captain McCollum: That pillot message was distributed
on the standard distribution in the Navy Department.

10 Senator Lucas: 'Who did that?

11 Captaln McCollum: Ceptain Kramer.

12 Senator Lﬁoas: Captain Kramer was the individual who

13 wves held responsible?
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2 " Captain MocCollum: If that distribution within the Navy
|
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Captain MoCollum: He aotualiy carried it around and de-
livered it to the var;oua officers who should have recelved
it, sir, inoluding mine.

Senator Lucas: That helps me Just a 1llttle, Captain.
one further question., You have repeate dly said that at no
time did you ever gee an implementing winds message after yru

had the original pilot message.

Captain McCollum: That 1s correoct, gir, That is prilor

to the attack on Pearl Hurbor, -

Senator Luocas: Prior to the attaock on Pearl Harbor. 1
want tokxamine you Jjust brlefly upon the so-called pilot mes-
sage with whioh you are famlllar.

I call your attention to that message which i8 No. 2353
and then I also direot your'attention.to the message sent from
Tokyo to Washington on that same day, November 19, 1941, known
as Ciroular No, 2354:

"When our diplomatic relations are beocoming danger-
ous, we will add the fellowlng at the bezinninz and end
of our general intelligence broadocasts.”

And «t the bottom of that 1t says:

"Phe above Will be repeated five times and included

at the beginning and end."

W41l you explain that to me, what that means?
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word code to the one we had before. As you nrtice, the word

"HIGASHI" up there means "East" and thls 1s an additional
word ocode to be used in eilther the voice broadcastis Or pos-
sibly in the news bro.dcasts sent out in Morse and would be
repeated five times at the start of the message and f1lve
times at the end of the message 81r.

Senator Lucas: Do you consider that this message
identified as 2354 has anythlng to do with 23537

Cﬁptain.MOCollum: It is the a;me sort of thing, s8ir,

It bringe out the same, it 1s an attempt to convey the same

information,

Senator Luocas: Well, that was the way I construed 1%
from my limited knowledgze of the type of meesaze that was
gent. I admit that I have no partiénlar powers of analyza=-
tion of a messaze of this kind but as a layman in reading
these two messages I could not help but read one unlesas I
resd the other and then attempt to construe both of them as
really one message. Am I correct about that?

Captain MoCollum: They are not one messaze.

Senctor Lucas: No, they are not one messaze.

Captain MoCollum: DBut they are attempting to oconvey the

gsame information. The Japanese at that time were trylng, &s

I remember, - were most anxious to convey this inforumation

and they apparently rigged up an additlonal word, - Iwo
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1 |
» ||additional word codes, that is, hidden word codes here to
. s acocomplish that purpose, 8ir.

s Senutor Lucas: Counsel seemé to think, after giving these
s |l two messages some study, that they set up both of ?heao types

6 ||lof messaze, one te go to the general publlc and one to go more
7 llor less to the diplomatio representatives, but they both mean

8 (|the same thing.

9 Captain MoCollum: Yes, 8lr.
¢ 10 Senator Luocas: Well, I was Just wondering whether or not
% 11 ||any message, any purported implementing message was ever re-
. E 12 ||ceived or it 1s ocontended was received whereby they repeated
§ 13 ||five times the particular word, including 1t at the beglinning
g 14 |land the end? Have you ever heard that dlscussed?
: 15 Captain McCollum: I never saw such an inforpation mes-
16 ||8aze.
17 Senator Lucas: Let me ask you thist If an implementing

18 mesaag; of any kind came from the result of the information

19 |lcontained in Cirocular 2353 or Ciroular 2364 wouldn't it be

20 ||necessary in order that the people receiving it, the Japs

21 ||lreceiving that message in this country would thoroughly under-
22 |lstani what it means, to have the names repeated flive times and
g3 |lincluded at the beginning and end?

24 Captain MeCollum: Yes, s8ir.

28 Senator Lunas: That 18, regardless of what message,
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whether it was based upon 2353 or 23547

Gapfain MoCollum: I belleve, sir, that there are two
geparate systems; that 1t oculd be either this system, 2354,
or the system set forth in 2355, sir, not to go in the one
messaz.

Senator Lucas: You were testifying thls morning upon a
question that I want to railse, Do you recall that tﬂo Navy
Department here in Washington at one time did send to Admiral
Kimmel some of these intercepts? '

Captain MoCollum: Yes, 6ir.

Senator Lucas: Do yocu know why they discontinued. that
praotice?

Captain MoCollum: I do not know that it was ever a prao-
ti0e. When the Japanese fleet would start an azgressive move,
when the movement was actually going there were .times when
we were unable to keep up with the evaluatlicn prooess and at
that time certain selected things were sent in a speclal sode
system breakable only by the Communication Intelligence organ-
1,ation attached to the staff of the Admiral and was sent for
that purpose and it is oy recollection that that serles of
dlapatohes along, I belleve, in July of 1941 will ooinoide,
sir, very olosely with Japanese movements into French Indo-

China.

Senator Luocas: Well, as I undersicod from the previous
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gestimony there was a while there that they sent these inter-

2

a cepte direot to Admiral Kimmel in the Paciflc.

é Captain MoCollum: Not all of them by any means, sir,
a Senator Lucas: Who determined what should be sent at

that particular tlme?

6

. Captein MoCollum: We had that in my off ice, s8ir,

& Senator Lucas: Well, did you zget any orders from the

2 higher command to cease and desiet sending those meseages To

¢ 10 Kimmel?
>
E 3 Captain MoCollum: No, sir, no such orders, except that
!E ‘8 there were constant reminders to reduce the sending of these
g ‘3 verbatim translatiqna of these dispatohes to the ultlmate de-
§ .4 gree, eir, and the matter of the securlity of the information
E: - that we were able to break these codes was ocontinually and
ia repeatedly stressed. Where 1t was possible to draw an evalu-
o ation from this material and to send the substance of that

evaluation out in the form of orders to the Fleet Commander or

18

'8 as an evaluated Irﬁ:elllgenoe messaze 1t was so sent,

Ve Senator Lucas: Well, now, returning tothe exhibit that
o coentains the message from Tokyo fo Honelulu with respect to
22 getting information and dividing the harbor up there in five

> gseotors, You are familiar with that message?

o Captain MoCollums Yes, sir,

35‘ Senator Lucas: Whose definite responsibllity was it to
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analyze and evaluate that particular message along with the

2

3 rest that came in from time to time?

4 Captain MoCollum: That would have been the responsibil-
s || 1ty of the Intelligence Vivision and then to pass that infor-
8 mation, together with their evaluation, to the Plans Divislon,

7 who would direct any dissemination to any outfit other than

a the Plans Division of the Navy Department,

0 Senator Luocas: Well, now, in your Intelligence Divislon:

10 who initlated the original analyzatlon of a message of that

$

E 11 || kind?

;é 12 Captain McCollum: My offlce,
-,i-, 13 Senator Lucas: Your what?

g 14 Captain McCollum: My of flce.
: 16 Senator Lucas: Your offloce?

18 Captain MoCollumi Yes, 8ilr.

17 Senator Lucas: Your office was responsible for analyzing

18 || any message from time to time and then whatever evaluation

19 || you placed upon that measage you sent it on to Admiral Wil-

20 kinson?
2t Captain McCollum: Lhet 1s correct, sir,

22 Senator Luces: Did Admiral Wilkinson have the experience

23 || and inside knowledge of the Intelligence work that you and

24 ||your staff had?
28 Captain McCollum: Admiral Wilkinsonhad not previous-
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- 1y served in Intelligence, sir, He is by reputztion one of

s our most brilliant officers, It is my opiniecn he has a mag-
4 nificent mind, He acoepted my recommendations almost in toto.

8 One of the reasons that Captain Kramer cerrled these mes-

e || sages around is that Captain qumér had served 1in an analye
o tiocal ocapacity in my office, was completely aware of all of
8 the ramifications and in additlion to any written evaluation
9 could in person add a verbal svaluatlion that might be neces-

10 sary or send for me in case of necesslty, sir,

g

% 11 Senator Lucas: One other questlon, Captaln. After the

,E.' 13 so-0alled pilot winds message was recelived did you oontinue to
g 13 || ook thereafter for this lmplementing message .thatmig'nt oome
é 14 || in?

: 18 Captain MoCollumi So far as I am aware, sir, we were

16 continuing to look for that after the bombs had etarted

17 falling on the Flest, sir,

18 Senator Lucas: Did captaiﬁ Safford ever discusse this

10 question with you at any time after the pllot message ocame in?

20 Captain MoCollum: Not that I remember, sir.

21 Senator Lucasi! Well, wae there any partiocular reason why
22 in view of your position that you I'mld at that time that ycu
23 should not have reoeived this implementing winde .mosﬂa;;e if

24 ||such a one had ct'me in?

23 Captaln MoCollum: No, sir,
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Senator Lucas: Do you know of any other message of 1im-
portance whereby you wofo passed up domp;ptely and the Com-
municaticns Officer sent it direot over your head to the high-
er ccmmand? ‘

Captain MoCollum: There might have been one or two in-
gtences in whioh they did go direotly over my head to the
hizher command but in almost every instance I would know about
it shortly thereafter, sir,

Senator Lucas: As I undersatand, Cgptaln Safford says
that he took this message direot to you and handed it to you.

Captain MoCollum: I have no recollection of that, sir,

Senator Lyocas: Well, an important message of that kind
certainly would have made an impreseion upon yout?

Captain MoCollum: Very definltely, sir, We were all
looking for 1t, Senator, everybody.

Senator Lucas: You were all looking for 1t?

Captain MoCollum: Yes, sir,

Senator Lucas: Apd ycu would have remembered 1t, I take
it, if such a mess age had been brought to you?

Captain MoCollum: I feel quite certain I would have,
sir,

Senator Lucas:! Did ycu have an qpportunity to look at
the message that was prepared by Admiral Turner and finally

sent through by Admiral Stark, known as the war warning mes-
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sage? F

Captain Mofollums I first saw that messaze about the
4th or 5th of Decerber, sir, I saw no messages prepared by
Admirsl Turner of that nature, either that one or any of the
others that preceded 1t, hefore they were sent, 81r,

Senator Lucas: Well, you are an officer with a wilde
range of experience in the Intelligence Department and as such
you huve had an opportunity from time to time to construe
messages of all types and charaoter, have you not?

Captain McCollum: Yes, 8lr,

Senator Lucast You had an opportunity to analyze and
construe the messaze that was sent by Admiral Stark on Novem-

ber the 27th to Admiral Kimmel, known as the war warning mes-
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sage?

Captain MoCollum: Yes, sir, I have read 1t repeatedly

lately,

Senator Lucas: What would that message mean to you if you
would have been out in the Pa2ifioc and had received 1it?

Captain MoCollum: Well, sir, the outstanding part of
that messaze i8 that 1t says, "This is a war warning." It
does not ocme in the life of most naval offlcers to receivse
or see a mesgage contalning such words and my personal feeling
18 that a messuge containing the information, " This is a war

warning", indicated clearly that the Department expected a war
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to break out there at any moment from then onm» s8ir,

Senator Lucus: I think that is all. |

The Chalrman: Mr. Murphy.

The Woe Chairman: Mr. Chairman, may I ask one question?

The Chairmant Congressman Coopers.

The Vice Chairman: Captain, I would like to clear up oOne
point 4n conneotion with some questions I asked you this morn-
ing and just now asked you by Senator Luocas.

With respect to the so-czlled Yomb plot message, was that
before you assumed your duties or after?

Captain MoCollum: No, sir. I was on duty there but I
left Washington on the 25th of August and I returned to the
Navy Department about -=- I got back to Washington on the 11lth
of Ootober and I did not really commence to funotion in my
office down here until about the 15th, sir, The 1llth I be-
lieve was Fri;ia: am;l it was a week end and I had notes and 8o
on to prepare, 8ir.

The Vice Chalrman: Well, was that bomb plot message
received during that interval when you were away?

Captain MoCollum: Yes, sir, It has a note here, It
says that 1t was translated on thq 9th of October 1941.’91::',
g0 1t must have been distributed about that time very closely.

The Vio§ Chairman; And that wae before you res:med your

work after ycu cume baock?
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Captain MoCollum: That is ocorrect, sir,

The Vice Chairman: Thank you, sir,

The Chailrman: Mr. Murphy.

Mr, Murphy: &ptain MoCollum, as I understand it you
stated as an explanation of the bomb plot, so called, on page
12 of oxhibit No. 2, the faot that they had no naval men at
the consulate in Honolulu and the fact that Pearl Harber was
an unusually complicated condition. Do you know whether or
not those two faotora'wpre known to others in Naval Intelli-
gence?

Captaln MoCollum: I think that was the general feeling,
eir, of the Intelligence offlcers who were working there.

Mr. Murphy: #nd in your Judgment would that have mini-
mized the importance of that rather than have it as an outstand-
ing messaze that would indicate an air rzid on Pearl Harbor?

Captain McCollums Yes, sir.

Mr. Murphy: Now, as I understand 1t, you did testify as

to paze 154 in exhibit 1. Will you hand that to the Captain,
please? Page 154,

Captain MoCollum: I have it, sir,
Mr. Murphy: Now, that message, if it were not sent by
vay of an lmplementing messaze to the winds code, if it were

sent by the Japanese, what were the people to do who received
167
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Captain MoCollum: It says in this message here, "When
this 18 heard, please desgroy all code papers ," and_ap forth,
8ir,

Mr., Murphy: Right. Now, the fuot is that the Navy d4id
reoeive.moaaagea from Japan through the consulates telling
them to destroy the codes?

Captaln McCollum: That is correct, sir,

Mr. Murphy: And the very reason why the winds code, 80-
called, was set up was that if they 414 send an implementing
messaze that way, to destroy the codes, isn't that right?

Captain MoCollum: That 1is correoct, sir.

Mr., Murphy: Actually there were messages sent spelling
out exactly what to do to destroy the codes, isn't that right?

Captain MoCollum: Thuat 1s ocorrect, sir,

Mr. Murphy: Now, then, after that message was recelved or,
rather, intercepted in Washington who was 1t who prepared the
messages to CINCPAC by way of information and by way of au-
thority as to code destrustion at Guam and also informing
CINCPAC that the codes were belnz destroyed at different points
throughout the world by the Japanese?

I direct ycur attention to your testimony, Captain, along
that line at paze 21 of the Hewitt testimony. That reads as
followa! |

"Subsaquent to this the situatirn further deteriorated
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and I recommended to Admiral Wilkinscn and we did send

dispatohes out to our naval attazches and varlous naval

azencies throughout the Far East direoting that they de-

stroy all their codes and olphers, and so on, and so

forth, and to affirmatively report when these had been

destroyed, ' That dispatch was sent so that the Fleet

commanders on the chain going out and coming back would

&ave the information that the order had been l1ssued.

Jome time uf ter the first, possibly around the fourth,

I prepared this,"

Now, was 1t you who prepared that messaze to the Islands

to take s8teps &abouy. dostroying thelr partioular oodea, our

own naval ocodes?

Captain MoCellum?

ND, sir.
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Mr. Murphy: Who was 1it?

Captain MeCollum: That would be Captain Safford who
prepared that sort of thing, and his Division, sir, in our
own islands. The instruction that actually had been gilven
was this, sir: The n'a.val é.ttaches, the people whose codes
could be seized by the Japanese, were our responsibility.
The general destruction of codes in their outlying areas
was the responsibility of the COMicatiom Division. I
conferred with Captain Safford, and in view of the fact
that it involved codes I asked him to draw up the appropriate
thing to send to the naval attaches, so there would be no
misu.n_derstanding about which ones they were to destrdy.

Mr. Murphy: Now why was it sent out?

Captain McCollum: He drafted this dispatch. I had
expected that he would bring it to me. I wished to add
something more to it at the time. In his hurry he dild not
and got it released directly, which was quite all right with
me. I had some discussion with Admiral Wilkinson as to
whether we should send another one direct to these fellows
to destroy other things in addition to codes.

Mr. Murphy: What was the purpose of sending the message?

Captain McCollum: The purpose of sending the message

vas to insure that none of our oryptographic systems should

fall into the hands of the enemy should war ensue.
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Mr. Murphy: And at that time was the reason for
sending it the fact that you thought war was imminent?

Captain McCollum: That 1s correct, sir.

Mr Murphy: You havq been in Naval Intelligence for
a good many years. What is the significance in the Navy
of a message stating that an expected enemy 1ls desiroying
his codes, all the different systems?

Captain McCollum:; I would interpret that to mean that
the enemy expects to be at war with us in the immediate
fﬁture ’ ai:é.

Mr. Murphy: On page 359 of the Hart testimony Captain
Safford testifiled:

“Q; | . Was any of the foregoing information,
under dates of November and December, 1941, disseminated by
the main Washington unit direct to the corresponding unit
in 14th Naval District?

"A. (Captain Safford) No, sir. That was not permitted
by & written order then in force."

Was there ever any such order by anybody prohibiting
that?

Captain McCollum: Not that I know of, sir.

Mr. Murphy: Did you ever hear of 1it?

Captain McCollum: No, sir.

Mr. Murphy: If there was such an order, doén't you think
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it should have come to your attonti.on? |

Captain MocCollum: Yes, sir.

Mr. Murphy: Now I direct your attention to page 359,
to Captain Safford's testimony. Do you have a copy of it
available? If not, I will read 1t to you.

After speaking about the order in question Captailn
Safford said:

" _. but there was one exception. On the 3rd of December,
I prepared OPNAV Secret Dispatch 031855, which was released
by Captain Redman, the Asslstant Director of Naval Commnica-
tions."

Was that the one you spoke of, which he prepared with-
out taking it up with you?

Captain McCollum: No, sir.

Mr. Murphy: I will go on then -- we will come back
to that.

"A similar dispatch was releesed by Admiral Wilkinson
and filed at 031850. Admiral Wilkinson's message 1s re-
ferred to in the Roberts Report. Before drafting my mecsage,
T called Commander MecCollum on the telephone and asked him
tAre you people in Naval Intelligence doing anything to
get a wa.ming-out to the Pacific Fleet?, and McCollum replied,
We are doing everything we can to get the news out to the

Fleet.! MeCollum emphasized both 'we's!. In sending this
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1 . |
2 information, I was over-stepping the bounds as established
3 by approved war plans and joint agreement between Naval
4 Commnications and Naval Intelligence, but I did it because !
- I thought McCollum had been unable to get his message released." f_'
e Do you recall such phone call from Captain Safford?
( ’ Captain McCollum: I remember talking to Safford on
: . || tnis subject about that time, sir. The specific things
o that T said I do not remember, sir. I drafted tho dispatch
16 which ONI sent out about the same time. That starts out,
‘s T think, "Categorical and specific instructions herein".
12 Mr. Murphy: At any rate, you remember Safford did

13 || ©all you?

14 Captain McCollum: Yes, sir.

: th h that it was your
15 Mr. Murphy: Did you agree with him, y

D .0 MOTOMUIHBAW . JUAT & GRAW

16 sunction and his function to send messages out to the Fleet?

17 Captain McCollum: I felt that messages should have

18 gone to the Fleet, sir. The effort was to get 1t out there.

10 Now you will notice, sir, Safford's message here, or the

one that you refer to, is sent in this system to his

20
21 Commnication Intelligence orgenizations out there. That
. 22 would probably be in a code only very closely held by his
23 {mmediate, you might say, subordinates.
24 Mr. Murphy: He speaks in his testimony of sending a
as message to Hawaii, that only one maen in Hawall would understand
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vhat was in it. Why would it be sent that way? He
gsays the only man q.t Hawaii who wduld understand it was
ILieutenant Coleman. Do you have & copy of that message,
do you know?

Captain MeCollum: I do not know, sir, unless he had
some private arrangement of wording ';:ith Coleman, sir.

Mr. Murphy: I am referring to the Navy lialson officer,
to page 359, in which Captain Safford sald, at page 360,
"OPNAV 031855 was addressed to CINCAF and COMSIXTEEN for
action but was routed to CINCPAC and COMFOURTEEN for informa-
tion. It was written in highly technical language and only
one officer present at Pearl Harbor, the late Lieutenant
H. M. Coleman, on CINCPAC's staff, could have explained 1its
significance."

I suppose the "late Lieutenant Coleman" means that
he 1s dead, the man who could understand it. There 1s a
message that only & dead man could understand a.f Hawali.

I wonder if we have somebody here with that message?

Cceptain McCollum: Mr. Congressmen, is that the dlspatch
vhich says: "Circular 244. From Tokyo. 1 December. Order
London, Hongkong, Singapore and Manila to destroy machine"?
Is that what you are referring to?

Mr. Murphy: I don't know. All it says is "OPNAV 031855

wes addressed to CINCAF", and so forth. He says it was 1in




